RIRHZE AR B B A R 23 )
Renco Holdings Group Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REREIMRIZZERAR)
Stock Code R&{7 155 : 2323



Corporate Information and Financial Calendar
Business Profile

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Five-Year Financial Summary

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB R HE

EHBHNT

LEMBHHE

BRI -HHEhELARS

CONTENTS
B &

76
120
151

162

164
167
168
171
306

307



CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR

REEN KM EEE
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Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Man Kung

(resigned on 21 March 2022)
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei
Mr. Xu Xinwei
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Xu Xinwei (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 July 2022)
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei
(resigned as Chairman on 21 July 2022)
Mr. Ng Man Kung
(resigned on 21 March 2022)
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (Chairman)
(appointed on 11 August 2022)
Ms. Xing Mengwei
(appointed on 21 July 2022)

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

23th Floor, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Chiu & Partners

40th Floor, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Central

Hong Kong

King & Wood Mallesons

(appointed on 15 August 2022)
13/F Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
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BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Tengis Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit 2707, Tower One,

Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,

Hong Kong

BRANCH OFFICE

1505 Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Half year results
Announced on 29 August 2022

Full year results
Announced on 30 March 2023

REGISTER OF MEMBERS
To be closed from Wednesday, 21 June 2023 to
Monday, 26 June 2023

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
To be held on Monday, 26 June 2023

DIVIDENDS
Interim : Nil
Final : Nil

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.renco.com.hk
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BUSINESS PROFILE
EHEN

Renco Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its BIRIZEREBAERLAT ((AAF ) REKWE
subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”) are AT CERAAT#EBIEER)) TEHWHE()
principally engaged in (a) the manufacture and sales of a broad — £3& K& RNEFEE 2 EN 4R B8 Hx (TED R 4R B&
range of printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), (b) the carrying out #rJ) * (D) FEE > BIEREFH K E AR
of treasury investments, including investment in securities and JE®) KR(O)RE SRR OiFEEEE &
other related activities, and (c) the rendering of financial services & K EL1th & R AR RA AR5 o

including asset management, investment and other consultancy

related services.

—ECCEFR MEEREEERAE 5



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the consolidated annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

PCBs Business for fiscal year 2022 has been benefited from two
major outcome, the relatively average higher prices continuously
enjoyed since our last price increase with our customers, and
the appreciation of the US dollars versus RMB making better
coverage for our overheads in the China factory. The PCBs
Group has also managed to avoid certain business not profitable
and competed only in those areas where we excelled in quality
and services.

For treasury investments segment and financial services segment
of the Group, the financial results of which unfortunately
continued to suffer a significant loss during the Year mainly due
to (i) the provision for impairment losses on several overdue
receivables arising from the financial assistances provided
by the Group (the “Overdue Financial Assistances”) and
additional provision for impairment losses on certain overdue
receivables under the litigation proceedings on the Overdue
Financial Assistances caused by the current worldwide capital
market fluctuations and the adverse impacts of the outbreak
of COVID-19 (the “"COVID-19 outbreak”); and (ii) the
substantial fair value losses arising from the adverse market
price movements in the listed securities held by the Group at the
fair value through its profit and loss. Meanwhile, the regulated
activities under section 127(1) of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")
in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and the corporate restructuring business are facing difficulties
in developing their businesses under such complicated and
challenging situations during the Year.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Whatever benefits being enjoyed during fiscal year 2022
seemed to be shortlived as the overall industry continues to
suffer a downturn due to the poor global economy, particularly
from those countries where we sell most to. Excessive PCBs
production capacity in China, when 2023 started, has become
more apparent and prices erode. Nevertheless, despite all these
uncertainties, we are still optimistic in business improvement
starting the second half of 2023 with the hope that the PCBs
demand shortage of some of our major customers will start
to ease off, previously due to the semi-conductors supply
imbalance causing disruption to their production.

Facing the unstable investment environment and financial
market, the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
and the management of the Company considered that the
Group should continue to concentrate more on improving the
risk management and control and compliance management in
relation to the inflow of sustainable returns while exploring the
opportunities in assets management and other financial services
related businesses, and also on enhancing the recoverability of
the transactions and maintaining sufficient level of cashflow.

Considering the strategic upgrade and the implementation of
new strategic plan due to the changes in the major shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”), the Group has been
actively diversifying its business and will continue to better
utilise its available resources to develop and upgrade the
traditional manufacturing business in PCBs, to maintain the
treasury investments and financial services, and to explore
the scope of business for identifying new investment and
business development opportunities, including but not limited
to, the broad application of artificial intelligence technology in
telecommunications, the construction of intelligent cities and
financial technology.

Chairman’s Statement

IRRE
ARREE

BT _HHEEERNEMFEMTE
RELH RARRZBEETRA BET

EFEBERE BHEREHMEERSHE
R EAZTZ_=F > PEKGRRELEBE R
SKENMBAR ERERT B - BENLEFERR
ﬁLﬁTﬁmﬁ CHPNAER T _=FTF
FEMBENEFTASHLBERE f2HMA—
%%m%%¥ﬁ%f@%@ﬁ@$§¢%m
FER P BRI AR KA TR B 181
#7 o

ERERERSHHBIRRIEEE T &
~AAEF(BEF) G ((EFE)) KEEER
o FEEREBSE IR S AR AFERR
MANRBREEREENGRER  RKRR
EEEBEREMERMARFEBESNKE T
05832 5 B BJ U [B] 14 K 4 75 78 2 3R 2 R K

7 o

BEARBDEEREK (TIRR) HIBE B TR R
BETH AR WWE MM AIREERE A EE-BER
BEREBZ T THERATREREE
ERA BREBIRNERREEH R E
B RIE BEXRMBRENTMRE
FREXFHBERERE UHABMNRER
EBER BEEFRN  ALEERMNE
MBS EZER BRESWT SRR

~
Fo

—ECEEFR MBEZEREERRAE 7



Chairman’s Statement

EERE

As at the date of this report, the Group has acknowledged the
material impact on the financial results of the Group caused
by the COVID-19 outbreak which may continue to hinder
the repayment of the debts from the borrowers of the loans
and issuers of the bonds to the Group in the coming vyears,
resulting in additional provision for impairment loss for the loan
receivables and note receivables. The Group will actively take
actions to recover these investments, including but not limited
to initiate legal proceedings, debt restructuring and disposal
after evaluating the cost and benefit of such actions, and
explore the option of ceasing the business of Financial Services
and Offshore Private Funds Management.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to the management team and all staff for their
dedication and commitment to make valuable contributions to
the Group during the Year and to thank all of our Shareholders,
business partners and customers for their continuous support.
With our combined efforts, we are looking forward to
overcoming all those challenges and to achieving the Group's
success in the coming year.

Li Yongjun
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$355.68
million, representing a decrease of approximately 33.57% as
compared with the total revenue of HK$535.43 million for the
corresponding year in 2021.
mainly due to the decrease in sales volume from manufacturing
segment of the Group and an increase of loss attributable

Such a decrease in revenue was

to the treasury investments segment. The revenue generated
by the manufacturing segment during the Year amounted to
HK$368.83 million (2021: HK$551.76 million). The loss for
the Year generated by the treasury investments segment was
HK$13.15 million (2021: Profit of HK$16.33 million).

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss before income tax of
approximately HK$464.22 million (2021: HK$390.42 million),
which was mainly attributable to (i) the unrealised fair value
losses on financial investments held for trading through profit
HK$57.27
million) and (ii) the impairment losses on trade receivables, other

or loss of approximately HK$41.48 million (2021:

receivables, loan receivables and note receivables of HK$335.02
million in total in respect of the Group (2021: HK$244.83

million).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$466.14 million, as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$451.59 million for the corresponding year
in 2021.
Company for the Year was approximately 19.08 HK cents, as
compared with that of 20.45 HK cents for the corresponding
year in 2021.

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of
final dividend for the Year (2021: HK$Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN @A RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing Business

During the Year, the principal business of the Group's
manufacturing segment remained unchanged and was involved
in the manufacture and sale of a wide range of PCBs.

Compared to the revenue for the corresponding year of 2021,
the sales of goods in the Group’s manufacturing segment
decreased by approximately 33.15% from approximately
HK$551.76 million in 2021 to approximately HK$368.83 million
for the Year whereas its gross profit margin increased from
10.44% in 2021 to 12.31% for the Year.

Treasury Investments

During the Year, the Group’s treasury investments team
continued to endeavor to make effective use of its available
financial resources in monitoring and making investment/
disposal on a wide variety of financial assets including
investments in listed equity securities, investments in funds, and
the provision of financial assistance to independent third parties.

For the Year, the Group's treasury investments segment recorded
a loss of approximately HK$460.05 million (2021: HK$314.40
million) in the form of realised and unrealised fair value losses
and interest income. The substantial fair value losses arising
from the adverse market price changes of listed securities held
by the Group were mainly due to the downturn of the Hong
Kong stock market and the downward share price performance
of the listed securities held by the Group during the Year.
The provision for impairment losses were arisen as a result
of the increase in credit-impaired receivables of the treasury
investments segment.
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Financial Services

Renco Investments Limited (“Renco Investments”) held the
licenses to conduct Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9
(Asset Management) regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance during the Year. Renco Investments,
which was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
during the period from 1 January 2022 to 7 December 2022,
actively participated in asset management, consultancy services,
corporate solution services and debt, asset and shareholding
restructuring business in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
past four years.

In view of the continuing downturn of the global economic
situation and the Group’s intention in reduction of operating
cost, the Directors resolved at Board meeting to dispose of 33%
of the shareholding in Renco Investment to two independent
third parties respectively, representing an aggregate of 66% of
the shareholding in Renco Investments at the total consideration
of approximately HK$1.77 million on 8 December 2022 (the “RI
Disposal”). Upon completion of the RI disposal, the Company
held 34% shareholding in Renco Investments and it became
an associate of the Company since 8 December 2022. The
RI Disposal did not constitute a disclosable transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules as all the applicable percentage
ratios under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transaction contemplated under therein were less than 5% as at
the date of RI Disposal.

As at the date of this report, Renco Investments designated its
wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC, Shenzhen Renco Private
Equity Investment Fund Management Limited* GFIIERRIFASE
RIEKREESEEBRAT), to act as the general manager
of a fund registered under the Asset Management Association
of China (FEIZHFKEEEXEHWHE) for generating the
management fee and investment return in the coming years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
J:'EE D—J DFFHEZ *ﬁ'

Offshore Private Funds Management

The Group continued to act as a general partner of several
offshore private funds launched by the Group which were
related to investments under the concept of One Belt One Road
(the "OBOR"). Besides, the Group has set up several offshore
private funds (the "HKBridge Funds”) for investments in listed
equity securities investments and unlisted debt investments.

Due to the global macroeconomic downturn since 2019, some
limited partners of these offshore private funds had withdrawn
their contribution of capital. The general partners of such funds
carried out a series of restructuring schemes for the relevant
offshore private funds in year of 2020. As at the date of this
report, among the total of 12 investment funds established
by the Group, 8 were related to the OBOR and 4 were related
to the HKBridge Funds. The Group’s aggregated amount of
assets under management up to the date of this report was
approximately HK$2.62 billion. Up to 31 December 2022, the
Group had made a total sum of original capital contributions
of approximately HK$1.38 billion (31 December 2021: HK$1.38
billion) to some of the offshore private funds.

As a significant amount of investments and loans made by some
offshore private funds were not to be repaid as scheduled, the
general partners of these offshore private funds have continued
operating in difficulty. During the Year, all offshore private fund
and each of the general partner were struck off by the registrar
of Cayman lIslands.

The Group is exploring the option of ceasing the business of
Offshore Private Funds Management. Meanwhile, the Group
may take actions to recover these investments, including but
not limited to initiate legal proceedings, debt restructuring and
disposal after evaluating the cost and benefit of such actions.
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Investment, Consultancy and Corporation Solution
Services

For investment, consultancy and corporation solution services,
the Group built up a professional investment team with
investment banking and corporate finance experience and
exposure in order to improve the efficiency and quality of
services.

During the Year, the Group did not provide in any consultancy
and corporate solution services due to the capital market
fluctuations and the adverse impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations through a
combination of internally generated cash flows, shareholders’
equity and borrowings from banks and the independent third
parties.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total equity of
approximately HK$301.97 million (31 December 2021:
HK$753.92 million) and net debts (trade payables, other
payables and accruals, loan from a related party, loan from
a Director, and borrowings less bank balances and deposits)
of approximately HK$1,393.98 million (31 December 2021:
HK$1,575.85 million), representing a gearing ratio, defined
as net debts over total equity plus net debts, of 82.19% (31
December 2021: 67.64%).

The Group’s net current liabilities of approximately HK$348.02
million (31 December 2021: net current assets of approximately
HK$10.95 million) consisted of current assets of approximately
HK$1,194.09 million (31 December 2021: HK$1,728.54 million)
and current liabilities of approximately HK$1,542.12million (31
December 2021: HK$1,717.59 million), representing a current
ratio of 0.77 (31 December 2021: 1.01).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current assets consisted
of approximately HK$46.94 million (31 December 2021:
HK$36.33 million) held as bank balances and deposits, which
were mainly denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group’s manufacturing segment’s current assets also
consisted of approximately HK$86.55 million (31 December
2021: HK$163.40 million) held as trade receivables. Debtors
turnover days was approximately 86 days (31 December 2021:
108 days).

The Group’'s inventories decreased from approximately
HK$56.70 million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately
HK$44.04 million as at 31 December 2022. Inventory turnover
days in the Group’s manufacturing segment was approximately
50 days (31 December 2021: 42 days). Trade payables decreased
from approximately HK$231.20 million as at 31 December
2021 to approximately HK$89.07 million as at 31 December
2022. Creditors turnover days was approximately 101 days (31
December 2021: 171 days).

Interest-bearing Borrowings

The bank loans were secured by certain buildings and right-
of-use assets related to leasehold land, corporate guarantee of
the Company and personal guarantee of a Director during the
Year. As at 31 December 2022, bank loans of approximately
HK$130.78 million (31 December 2021: HK$144.42 million)
carried fixed interest rates ranging from 3.70% to 5.55% per
annum (31 December 2021: 2.36% to 3.85% per annum).

As at 31 December 2022, other loan obtained from an associate
amounting to approximately HK$177.94 million was unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable in 2024. The remaining
balance of other loans was secured by equity interests in certain
subsidiaries and an associate of the Group, other trade and loan
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), bearing interest at a rate for the range of 3%
to 8% per annum (31 December 2021: 3% to 8% per annum),
of which HK$770.63 million (31 December 2021: HK$672.71
million) were repayable within the next twelve months.
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Apart from the secured borrowings described above, there
were loans advanced by Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok"”),
an executive Director, of HK$111.14 million (31 December
2021: HK$103.71 million) at an effective interest rate of 7%
per annum (31 December 2021: 7% per annum) which are
repayable on demand. Furthermore, there was another loan
advanced by Mr. Liu Tingan (“Mr. Liu”), who is a former
executive Director and former chief executive officer of the
Company and resigned as director of various subsidiaries of
the Company on 21 July 2022 and as advisor of the Company
with effect from 31 August 2022, for an amount of HK$Nil (31
December 2021: HK$2.95 million) which is non-interest bearing
and has no fixed terms of repayment. The financial assistances
provided by Mr. Cheok and Mr. Liu were connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of the Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). However,
these transactions are fully exempted from the reporting,
announcement, and approval from independent Shareholders
requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules because they are
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and are not
secured by the assets of the Group.

Capital Structure

During the Year, 440,000,000 shares of ordinary shares were
allotted and issued under the general mandate granted to the
Directors by a resolution of the Shareholders passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2021
(the "Placing Shares”) to generate the gross proceeds of
HK$44,000,000. The details of the Placing Shares are set out
in the paragraph headed "PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE" below on pages 59 to 61 of this annual
report.

As at 31 December 2022, the total issued share capital of the
Company was HK$264,800,000 (2021: HK$220,800,000),
comprising 2,648,000,000 (2021: 2,208,000,000) ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each.
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Subscription and/or Holding of Interest in Funds
Set out below are the particulars of the Group’s major
unlisted fund investments:

(a) Partners Special Opportunities Fund I (the

“Partners Fund”)

On 25 January 2017, the Group contributed
HK$200.00 million into the Partners Fund. The
Partners Fund is managed by Grand Highlight
Investments Limited (the “Grand Highlight”)
(whereas Partners Investment Management Limited
tendered its resignation as the manager of the
Partners Fund with effect from 4 September 2019),
with the objective of generating long term capital
appreciation for its investors. The subscription of the
Partners Fund constituted a disclosable transaction
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and further
details of which were set out in the Company’'s
announcements dated 25 January 2017 and 22
October 2019 respectively.

According to the placing memorandum of the
Partners Fund, the investment objective of the
Partners Fund is to generate long term capital
appreciation for its shareholders and the Partners
Fund will seek to achieve its investment objective
primarily by investing in debt securities or equity
securities of both private and listed companies
in Hong Kong or elsewhere or in other financial
instruments as the investment adviser(s) may
determine.
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With reference to the investment objectives of the
Partners Fund and the extensive experience and
skills of the directors of the Partners Fund and the
manager, the Board believes that the subscription of
the Partners Fund will enable the Group to capture
investment opportunities and further diversify the
Group's investment portfolio. The subscription is
also in alignment with the Group’s expansion plan
on carrying out financial investments by investing in
high-yield equity and debt products to maximise the
long-term investment return of the Group.

In August 2019, the Group obtained joint control of
the Partners Fund through the Group’s ownership of
50% equity interest in Grand Highlight. Accordingly,
the Partners Fund had been re-classified under
“Investments in joint ventures” in the Group's
consolidated financial statements since then. The
underlying investment in the Partners Fund is a bond
issued by an independent third party of the Group
(the “Bond Issuer”), the maturity date of which
fell on 20 December 2020. Grand Highlight, the
general partner of the Partners Fund, had approached
the Bond Issuer to attempt for collecting the
aforesaid investment or to discuss on the extension
arrangement for the bond. As at the date of this
report, both parties were still negotiating certain
terms of arrangement but had not reached consensus
on any arrangement yet.

In the opinion of the management of the Group,
the Group, or together with Grand Highlight, may
conduct debt restructuring arrangement for the
underlying investment of the Partners Fund, and/
or proceed with litigation proceedings against the
Bond Issuer if there is no substantial progress in the
coming months. Further announcement(s) regarding
any significant developments on the investment in
the Partners Fund will be published as and when
appropriate.
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Pursuant to the deed of undertakings and relevant
extension agreement executed on 22 April 2017
between the Bond Issuer and the Group, the Bond
Issuer and its related person as the guarantor should
have paid the Group an extra interest of 8% per
annum since April 2017 (since July 2019: 2% per
annum) on the Group's contribution to the Partners
Fund on or before 20 December 2020 but such
extra interest was still overdue during the Year. The
outstanding amount of receivables was recorded
under the trade receivables in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Since the current financial performance and the
status of the business operations of the Bond Issuer
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was worse
than that of the previous year, no settlement was
received during the last three years and the Bond
Issuer was unable to meet the repayment deadline
under the plan. Default payment by the Bond Issuer
caused significant increase in credit risk on the
above trade receivables when compared with the
same period of the previous year. It was therefore
considered as credit-impaired under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard (the "HKFRS”) 9 as
at 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the carrying
amount of the trade receivables as at 31 December
2022 was HK$Nil (31 December 2021: HK$Nil) and
fully impaired with the accumulated impairment loss
on the bond receivables held by the Partners Fund
amounted to HK$60.41 million in total.
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(b) Huarong International Fortune Innovation LP

(the “Huarong Fund”)

On 10 April 2017, the Group contributed HK$340.00
million in the Huarong Fund as one of the limited
partners. The Huarong Fund is managed by Huarong
International Capital Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability. The net proceeds raised by the Huarong Fund
were used to acquire not more than HK$2.23 billion
of shares in Fullshare Holdings Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 607), and such other assets with
mutual consent by all limited partners of the Huarong
Fund. The contributions made to the Huarong Fund
constituted a disclosable transaction under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules and further details of which
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
23 December 2016, 8 December 2017, 11 December
2017, 26 March 2018, 3 July 2018, 2 October 2018,
3 January 2019, 16 August 2019 and 22 October
2019 respectively.

Pursuant to a share charge agreement entered into
on 22 March 2017 with two chargors which were
independent third parties of the Group, 69,120,000
shares in Zall Smart Commerce Group Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 2098) (the “Zall Shares”) were provided
in favour of the Group's subscription of interest
in the Huarong Fund as security for the full and
punctual performance of all the secured liabilities.
The Group recognised the fair value of Zall Shares of
HK$293.00 million as derivative financial assets as at
31 December 2018 and disposed of all Zall Shares in
2019.
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(c)

As at 31
substantial fair value losses arising from the adverse

December 2022, with reference to the

market price changes of the listed securities held by
the Huarong Fund, the fair value of the investment in
the Huarong Fund was HK$Nil (31 December 2021:
HK$NIl) if the distribution of the net sale proceeds of
the Huarong Fund was calculated.

The Group together with other plaintiffs filed and
served the statement of claim to the High Court
of Hong Kong on 9 March 2021. As at the date of
this report, the Group was undergoing litigation
proceedings in connection with the Huarong Fund.
Further announcement(s) regarding any significant
developments on the litigation matters will be
published as and when appropriate.

Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road Natural
Resource Fund LP (the “Natural Resource Fund”)
On 14 May 2017 and 12 March 2018, the Group
contributed HK$220.00 million and HK$375.00
million respectively in the Natural Resource Fund,
while the Group also acted as the general partner
of the Natural Resource Fund, as the only second-
tier limited partner. Further details of the Natural
Resource Fund were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 14 May 2017, 12 March 2018
and 22 October 2019 respectively.

According to the amended and restated limited
partnership agreement of the Natural Resource
Fund, the primary purpose of the Natural Resource
Fund is to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
principally through investing in equity, equity-related
investments, fixed income securities, debt instruments
and loans in connection with energy, mining or
agricultural businesses, or infrastructure relating to
any of the foregoing.
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In addition to being a general partner, on 16
May 2019, following the withdrawal of the first-
tier limited partner, the Group has become the
only limited partner in the Natural Resource Fund.
According to the accounting policy of the Group,
the investment in the Natural Resource Fund was
derecognised from the financial assets at FVTPL,
and the assets, liabilities and returns of the Natural
Resource Fund had been consolidated into the
Group’s financial statements since then.

At the date when the Group became the only limited
partner (hence being deemed to obtain control) of
the Natural Resource Fund, the Natural Resource
Fund (i) had a loan receivable from an independent
third party of HK$220.00 million with interest
rate of 6% per annum; and (ii) held a bond with
principal amount of HK$375.00 million issued by an
independent third party, which was interest-bearing
at 10% per annum and whose maturity date fell on
12 September 2020 (the “Bond 1”). The carrying
amount of Bond | was recorded as note receivables of
approximately HK$412.00 million in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2019.

Facing the adverse impacts brought by the current
worldwide capital market fluctuations and the
COVID-19 outbreak, the Group had partially
withdrawn the contribution of HK$220.00 million
from the Natural Resource Fund on 29 May 2020 and
received a distribution in kind of the loan receivables
with carrying amount of HK$231.60 million in total in
order to lower the investment risk, which was offset
with the Group’s borrowing immediately.
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On 29 May 2020, in order to enhance the investment
quality of the fund, the general partner and manager
of the Natural Resource Fund together with that
of the Fixed Income Fund (as defined below) had
decided to adjust the investment strategies and
entered into a series of restructuring and debt
assignment agreements with several funds (the
“OBOR Funds Restructuring”). Pursuant to the
restructuring and debt assignment agreements,
each of the Natural Resource Fund and the Fixed
Income Fund acquired 50% interest of Hong Kong
Bridge High-Tech Investment Fund, L.P. (the “High-
Tech Investment Fund”) and HKBridge Special
Situation Fund, L.P. (the “Special Situation Fund”)
respectively; and the Natural Resource Fund acquired
100% interest of Hong Kong Bridge One Belt
One Road M&A Fund, L.P. (the “M&A Fund”), by
respectively assigning Bond | and Bond Il (as defined
below) to the original limited partners of the High-
Tech Investment Fund, the Special Situation Fund and
the M&A Fund and became the new limited partners
of these funds. The OBOR Funds Restructuring took
retrospective effect on 1 January 2020.

Details of the investments of the M&A Fund and
the High-Tech Investment Fund are set out in the
paragraphs headed “(e) Hong Kong Bridge One
Belt One Road M&A Fund LP” and “(f) Hong Kong
Bridge High-Tech Investment Fund LP" below
respectively.

Upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring,
each of the capitals of the High-Tech Investment Fund
and the Special Situation Fund had been contributed
as to 50% by the Natural Resource Fund and 50%
by the Fixed Income Fund respectively since 1
January 2020. Subsequently, the Fixed Income Fund
transferred its 50% interest in the Special Situation
Fund to the Natural Resource Fund on 17 July 2020
(such transfer took retrospective effect on 1 January
2020). The Natural Resource Fund has become the
only limited partner of the Special Situation Fund
since then.
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(d)

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Natural Resource Fund, the general partner continued
to look for a new first-tier limited partner to expand
the fund investing activities. The Board considered
that all the subscriptions of interests in the Natural
Resource Fund were beneficial to the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole, by generating the returns
from medium to long term investments and to
enhance the experience of assets management in the
coming years.

As at the date of this report, the Natural Resource
Fund held 100% interest in the M&A Fund and the
Special Situation Fund respectively as the only limited
partner of each fund.

Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road Fixed
Income Fund LP (the “Fixed Income Fund”)

On 14 May 2017 and 12 March 2018, the Group
contributed HK$220.00 million and HK$375.00
million respectively to the Fixed Income Fund, while
the Group also acted as the general partner of the
Fixed Income Fund, as the second-tier limited partner.
Further details of the Fixed Income Fund were set
out in the Company’'s announcements dated 14
May 2017, 12 March 2018 and 22 October 2019
respectively.

According to the amended and restated limited
partnership agreement of the Fixed Income Fund,
the primary purpose of the Fixed Income Fund is to
achieve long-term capital appreciation, principally
through investing in fixed income securities, debt
including but without
limitation to the loans, convertible bonds, fixed
income securities,

instruments and loans,

money market and convertible
securities.
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In addition to being a general partner, on 16 May
2019, following the withdrawal of the first-tier
limited partner, the Group has become the only
limited partner in the Fixed Income Fund. According
to the accounting policy of the Group, the investment
in the Fixed Income Fund was derecognised from the
financial assets at FVTPL, and the assets, liabilities
and returns of the Fixed Income Fund have been
consolidated into the Group’s financial statements
since then.

At the date when the Group became the only limited
partner (hence being deemed to obtain control) of
the Fixed Income Fund, the Fixed Income Fund (i) had
a loan receivable from an independent third party of
HK$220.00 million with an interest rate of 6% per
annum; and (ii) held a bond with principal amount
of HK$375.00 million issued by an independent third
party, which is interest-bearing at 10% per annum
and whose maturity date fell on 12 September 2020
(the “Bond I1”). The carrying amount of Bond I
was recorded as note receivables of approximately
HK$409.00 million in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at 31 December 2019.

Facing the adverse impacts brought by the current
worldwide capital market fluctuations and the
COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has partially
withdrawn the contribution from the Fixed Income
Fund to the extent of HK$220.00 million on 29
May 2020 in order to lower the investment risk and
received a distribution in kind of the loan receivables
with carrying amount of HK$230.73 million, which
was offset with the Group’s borrowing immediately.

On 29 May 2020, in order to enhance the quality of
the investments, the general partner and manager
of the Fixed Income Fund decided to adjust the
investment strategies and underwent the OBOR Funds
Restructuring.
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Details of the OBOR Funds Restructuring are set out
in the paragraph headed “(c) Hong Kong Bridge
One Belt One Road Natural Resource Fund LP”
above on pages 20 to 23.

Subsequently, the Natural Resource Fund transferred
50% of its interest in the High-Tech Investment Fund
to the Fixed Income Fund on 17 July 2020 (such
transfer took retrospective effect on 1 January 2020).
The Fixed Income Fund has become the only limited
partner of the High-Tech Investment Fund since then.

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Fixed Income Fund, the general partner continues
to look for a new first-tier limited partner to expand
the fund investing activities. The Board considered
that all the subscriptions of interests in the Fixed
Income Fund were beneficial to the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole, by generating the returns
from medium to long term investments and to
enhance the experience of assets management in the
coming years.

As at the date of this report, the Fixed Income Fund
held 100% interest in the High-Tech Investment Fund
as the only limited partner.
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(e) Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road M&A Fund

LP (the “M&A Fund”)

At the date when the Group became the only
limited partner (hence being deemed to obtain
control) of the M&A Fund, the M&A Fund had a loan
receivable from Strait Capital Service Limited (the
“Strait Borrower”), an independent third party, of
HK$200.00 million which was interest-bearing at
5% per annum and a further interest-free financing
amount of approximately HK$18.00 million to the
Strait Borrower. The maturity dates of these loans
were further extended to 31 December 2022 on
31 December 2021 (the “Loan 1”). The Loan | was
secured by the Strait Borrower's interest in certain
bonds (the “CRTG Bonds"”) of HK$400 million issued
by China Resources and Transportation Group Limited
("CRTG"), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 269).

With reference to the investment objectives of
the M&A Fund, the purpose of its activities is
primarily to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
principally through investing in equity or equity-
related investments or fixed income debt
investment or convertible bonds in overseas energy
resources, agriculture, high-tech industry, advanced
manufacturing and service industries and/or other
investments in connection with the foregoing or the
Belt and Road Initiative of the PRC at the discretion of
the general partner.

Upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring,
the Natural Resource Fund has become the only
second-tier limited partner of the M&A Fund. Under
such circumstances and the accounting policy of the
Group, its assets (including the Loan | which was
recorded as loan receivables), liabilities and returns
have been consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements since the Group was the general partner
and the only second-tier limited partner of the M&A
Fund.
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As at the date of this report, the M&A Fund had not
received the settlement of the outstanding amounts
due from the Strait Borrower during the past three
years as the Strait Borrower was still suffering
from the adverse impacts caused by the COVID-19
outbreak. The recoverable value of the bonds issued
by CRTG as the securities decreased significantly
due to the poor financial performance of CRTG as
disclosed in its annual report 2022 published on
9 August 2022. Having considered the worsened
situation, the general partner and the manager of
the M&A Fund decided to provide further impairment
loss of HK$75.40 million (2021: HK$35.19 million)
in respect of the Loan | for the Year according to
the HKFRS 9. The carrying value of the Loan | after
the accumulated impairment loss of HK$175.93
million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
HK$100.53 million) amounted to approximately
HK$75.40 million (31 December 2021: HK$150.80
million).

Hong Kong Bridge High-Tech Investment Fund LP
(the “High-Tech Investment Fund”)

The High-Tech Investment Fund entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with independent
third parties to acquire 24,397,946 shares of the
SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3 (as defined below).
Details of the subscription of interest in the High-
Tech Investment Fund were set out in the paragraph
headed “(Ill) Subscription and/or Holding of
Listed Securities” under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
report on pages 34 to 42.

(f)
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On 12 September 2017, the High-Tech Investment
Fund as lender and the Strait Borrower entered into
the loan agreement to lend the total principal amount
of HK$80.00 million with an interest rate of 5% per
annum and further interest-free financing amount of
approximately HK$4.15 million with the expiry dates
of the loans being further extended to 31 December
2022 on 31 December 2021 (the “Loan Il”). The
Loan Il was secured by the Strait Borrower’s interest in
the CRTG Bonds of HK$100 million.

With reference to the investment objectives of
the High-Tech Investment Fund, the purpose of its
activities is primarily to achieve long-term capital
appreciation, principally through investing in equity,
equity-related investments or equivalent, fixed income
securities, debt securities and loans or convertible
bonds in connection with high-tech industries and/or
other investments in connection with the foregoing
as determined at the general partner’s discretion,
temporary investments and entering into options,
futures and derivatives contracts for the purpose
of hedging the equity, currency and interest rate
exposure for investing in a portfolio of companies.

Upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring,
the Fixed Income Fund has become the only limited
partner of the High-Tech Investment Fund. Under
such circumstances and accounting policy of the
Group, the assets (including the Loan Il which was
recorded as loan receivables), liabilities and returns
of the High-Tech Investment Fund have been
consolidated into the Group’s financial statements
since the subscription of interest in the High-Tech
Investment Fund.
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The High-Tech Investment Fund had not received the
outstanding amounts from the Strait Borrower during
the past three years. Having considered the worsened
situation and the aforesaid reasons, the general
partner and the manager of the High-Tech Investment
Fund decided to provide further impairment loss
of HK$29.21 million (2021: HK$13.64 million) in
respect of the Loan Il for the Year according to the
HKFRS 9. The carrying value of the Loan Il after the
accumulated impairment loss of HK$68.16 million as
at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: HK$38.95
million) amounted to approximately HK$29.21 million
(31 December 2021: HK$58.43 million).

Hong Kong Bridge Landmark Investment Fund LP
(the “Landmark Fund”)

The capital of the Landmark Fund in the amount of
HK$220.00 million was contributed by the Group
as the only second-tier limited partner since 27
December 2017. The Landmark Fund subscribed for
a bond issued by the Strait Borrower for the total
principal amount of HK$200.00 million with an
interest rate of 5% per annum, together with further
interest-free financing amount of approximately
HK$18.00 million on the same date (the “Bond I11").
The Bond Il was secured by the Strait Borrower’s
interest in the CRTG Bonds of HK$100.00 million
issued by CRTG with the maturity date of the Bond
Il being further extended to 31 December 2022
on 31 December 2021.
in Landmark Fund did not constitute a disclosable
transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules as
all the applicable percentage ratios under Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules in respect of the transaction
contemplated under the subscription were less than
5% as at the date of subscription.

The subscription of interest
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(h)

With reference to the investment objectives of
the Landmark Fund, the purpose of its activities is
primarily to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
principally through investing in convertible debts,
equity securities, equity-related securities, debt
securities, loans as well as engaging in bridge and
mezzanine financing and entering into repurchase
agreements or any other investment in connection
with the foregoing at the general partner’s discretion.

Since the Group was the general partner and the only
second-tier limited partner of the Landmark Fund, its
assets, liabilities and returns had been consolidated
into the Group’s financial statements.

The Landmark Fund had not received the outstanding
amounts due from the Strait Borrower during
the past three years. After having considered the
worsened situation and the aforesaid reasons, the
general partner and the manager of the Landmark
Fund decided to provide further impairment loss
of HK$75.05 million (2021: HK$35.03 million) in
respect of the Bond Ill for the Year according to the
HKFRS 9. The carrying value of the Bond Il after
the accumulated impairment loss of HK$175.12
million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
HK$100.07 million) amounted to approximately
HK$75.05 million (31 December 2021: HK$150.10
million).

HKBridge Absolute Return Fund LP (the
“Absolute Return Fund”)

The Absolute Return Fund entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with four independent
third parties to acquire 64,148,063 shares of the
SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2 (as defined below).
Details of the subscription of interest in the
Absolute Return Fund were set out in the paragraph
headed “(Ill) Subscription and/or Holding of
Listed Securities” under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
report on pages 34 to 42.
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With reference to the investment objectives of the
Absolute Return Fund, the purpose of its activities is
primarily to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
principally through investing in equity securities of
a portfolio of companies in the industry of inflight
wireless network engineering and services with their
main business in Hong Kong, temporary investments
and entering into options, futures and derivatives
contracts for the purpose of hedging the equity,
currency and interest rate exposure for investing in
the portfolio investment.

Upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring,
the Group held 100% (31 December 2021: 100%) of
interest in the Absolute Return Fund. The unrealised
fair value loss of the equity investments of the
Absolute Return Fund had been consolidated into
the Group’s financial statements since the Group
obtained the majority interest in the Absolute Return
Fund.

Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road
Infrastructure Investment Fund Il LP

(the “Infrastructure Fund IIl”)

The capital of the Infrastructure Fund Il in the
amount of HK$150.00 million was contributed by the
Group as the only second-tier limited partner since 12
March 2018. The Infrastructure Fund Ill subscribed for
a bond issued by an independent third party to the
Group of the total principal amount of HK$150.00
million with an interest rate of 10% per annum (the
“Bond IV") on the same date. The maturity date of
the Bond IV was extended to 12 September 2020.
The subscription of interest in the Infrastructure Fund
Il did not constitute a disclosable transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules as all the applicable
percentage ratios under Rule 14.07 of the Listing
Rules in respect of the transaction contemplated
under the subscription were less than 5% at the date
of subscription.

(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENR RO

2REHORESHKRERR A
HHNENTERERRPEALR
B TEREBUHEEBEIER
BREREREGEE TEMRS
TENRBEEGARNREES
ETERFRETIIIAE HEMN
METIRGH UHPREHSK
BRRAE  EEMA KRR -

HI—H—RESSH TME &
EEBEBERBEEHRESNI00% (=
T —F+_HBA=+—H: 100%)
Bm-BAEENSEBLORESD
MNBEFHERE BHERESDN
RABRENARERAFTEGEESS
HEAEBMPBREKF o

B —H—BERREREINE R
EBANEZ (BERRERERZ
ny)
BEZZE—-N\NEZB+_HHR &
EEEAHM—MNE_RAEREGBEA
MERLZHEESIEATIS0.008
BAT - ERIHESNRELER
z2/iaE=75 (M&HFIV])) ZETHNE
%o RS HEEA150.00B BB T F
FMEAH10% - EFHIVHEHHRIERE
EIZTEZFARB+TZHRECL
MRAD)F14Z > REERREES
NIRRT A ERTRERS > BA
(EHRB)E14.07EREWFTA
BREDLEEERBEES HTEIET
B 5 AT R EBIE5 % ©

SECCEER MAEREESRAT 31



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
J:'EE D—J DFFHEZ *ﬁ'

32

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Infrastructure Fund Ill, the purpose of its activities is
primarily to achieve long-term capital appreciation,
principally through investing in equity, equity-
related investments, fixed income securities, debt
securities or loans in connection with road, railway,
port, sea and inner river transportation, airplane,
energy, electricity, undersea power cable, fiber,
telecommunication or information technology
industries or any other investments in connection
with the foregoing at the general partner’s discretion.

According to the accounting policy of the Group,
the assets, liabilities and returns of the Infrastructure
Fund Il had been consolidated into the Group's
financial statements.

Upon completion of the OBOR Funds Restructuring,
the Group received the distribution in kind of
subscription of Bond IV and assigned it to offset
the borrowings of the Group in 2020. The carrying
value of the Bond IV amounted to approximately
HK$165.87 million as at 31 December 2019. The
Group remained as the only second-tier limited
partner of the Infrastructure Fund Il with contribution
amount of HK$1 as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: HK$1).
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() Goodwill Arising from the OBOR Funds

Restructuring

Pursuant to the OBOR Funds Restructuring, all parties
agreed to offset the value of distribution in kinds (being
the original investment amount of the underlying assets)
with original amount of capital contribution to the
respective funds regardless of the changes in value of the
underlying net assets of the funds in the past years. In
particular, the underlying assets of High-Tech Investment
Fund being the equity investments in SuperRobotics Shares
(as defined below) has suffered significant fair value losses
since they were acquired by the High-Tech Investment Fund
a few years ago. This resulted in the fair value of the net
assets/liabilities of the funds acquired by the Group on 1
January 2020 becoming smaller than the fair value of the
consideration transferred (i.e. the fair value of receivables
assigned to the original limited partners of the respective
funds).

The goodwill arising from the OBOR Funds Restructuring
was allocated to the respective funds, each of which
represented a cash-generating unit, for impairment testing.
On 1 January 2020, i.e. the effective date of the OBOR
Funds Restructuring, the recoverable amounts of the funds
were determined with reference to the carrying value of
their net identifiable assets/liabilities with major assets
being investments in listed shares and loan receivables.
As a result, an aggregate impairment loss for goodwill of
HK$331.00 million was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2020.

All goodwill arising from the OBOR Funds Restructuring
has been fully impaired as at 31 December 2020.
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Subscription and/or Holding of Listed Securities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held financial assets
at FVTPL of approximately HK$78.65 million (31 December
2021: HK$120.13 million) of which the club debenture
of HK$4.27 million (31 December 2021: HK$4.27 million)
was classified as non-current assets and the listed equity
investments of HK$74.38 million (31 December 2021:
HK$115.87 million) was classified as current assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

Listed below are the particulars of the Group’s major listed
equity investments:

{{1))

BN A LHES

AR CF+ZRA=+—H > AEERF
BRATEFABHEZ EREELT8.65
B8AT (CEZ—F+ZA=+—H:
120138887 » B8R RAK£EREA
FEMBRRRAN 2EGERE4I2788
Br(CEI—F+IZA=+—H:4.27
BEEET) PEAERBEE ML
RiEKER743888BAT (ZTEZ—F
+ZRHR=+—H:115.8788%7T) Hi8
AREEE-

TXHAEEAZTE L RERE
B

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HEZS-ZE+-AS+-ALEE
Approximate
percentage of
Cost/ investments
Approximate fair value Market attributable
percentage as at prices as at to the
Number of interest 1 January Additions/ 31 December Group's total Dividend Disposal Fair value
Name of investees Notes of shares held 2022 (transfer) 2022 Market value assets received gain/(loss) gain/(loss)
i
fiss B I3 RE
fifsEE —B-HZ —E-C ERER HE ATHE
‘ 2 7. 94 +28 HEAE g/ Wi,/
KREQATLHE izt BRI BE B AT 5 =+-H%E il 2 BIKES (§48) (518
(HK$000) (HK$'000) (HKS) (HK$000) (HK$'000) (HK$ 000) (HK$'000)
(FE7) (F&71) (FE7) (F&71) (F&7) (FE7) (FE71)
SuperRobotics Holdings Limited ("SuperRobotics")
(HKSE Stock Code: 8176) (the “SuperRobotics
Shares Batch 1") (@) 41,666,666 8.23% 16,667 N/A 0.220 9,167 0.45% N/A N/A (7,500)
BABEZERERAR
(G=IN-1:)
(BEBRARACE : 8176)
(ME-HBABRERR) 41,666,666 8.23% 16,667 TEE 0.220 9,167 0.45% TEH TER (7,500)
SuperRobotics
(the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2") ) 64,148,063 12.67% 25,659 N/A 0.220 14,113 0.69% N/A N/A (11,546)
BALE
(MEZHBABRERR) 64,148,063 12.67% 25,659 TER 0.220 14,113 0.69% TEH TEA (11,546)
SuperRobotics
(the "SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3") © 24,397,946 4.82% 9,759 N/A 0.220 5,368 0.26% N/A N/A (4,391)
BABE
(ME=HBABRERR) 24,397,946 4.82% 9,759 TERA 0.220 5,368 0.26% TR TER (4,391)
SuperRobotics
(the * SuperRobo'ucs Shares Batch 4") (@ 13,533,333 267% N/A 3,113 0220 2,977 0.15% N/A N/A (136)
ﬁ)\EI Be
(MEmEALLERR ) 13,533,333 267% TER 3,113 0.220 2,977 0.15% TER TER (136)
Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 993) (the “Huarong
Financial") (e) 237,359,400 2.73% 46,522 N/A 0.120 28,483 1.40% N/A N/A (18,039)
ERERSRERERAD
(BEBRMRMAAS  993) (EREE) 237,359,400 2.73% 46,522 ER 0.120 28,483 1.40% TEH TR (18,039)
Bank of Gansu Co., Ltd. (HKSE Stock Code: 2139)
(the "Bank of Gansu") (f) 11,506,000 0.30% 17,259 N/A 1.030 12,081 0.59% N/A N/A 5,178
HERIRHERAR
(EEBRNAIE 2139) (HEST) 11,506,000 0.30% 17,259 TER 1.030 12,081 0.59% TEA TER 5,178
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(a) SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1

On 23 November 2016, the Group entered into
a placing letter with a placing agent, pursuant
to which, among others, the Group agreed to (i)
subscribe for a total number of 35,416,666 shares
(the “SuperRobotics Shares”) in SuperRobotics at
a subscription price of HK$4.80 per share, whose
shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 8176); and (ii) acquire 6,250,000
SuperRobotics Shares from New Cove Limited (a
then substantial shareholder of SuperRobotics)
at a purchase price of HK$4.80 per share. On 5
December and 14 December 2016, the above two
transactions were completed respectively, and a total
consideration of approximately HK$200.00 million
(exclusive of stamp duty, trading fees, transaction
levies and brokerage) was paid out by the Group.
Further details of the subscription and acquisition
of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 1 were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 November 2016.

The principal activities of SuperRobotics are the
provision of engineering products and related services
and the sales of beauty products and provision of
therapy services.

The Board noted that the robust development of the
robotic industry in the PRC represents an enormous
potential for market expansion for SuperRobotics
in the future. The construction of intelligent cities
had been in full swing based upon the artificial
intelligence technology. The wide application of
intelligent robotics covered from police use to various
aspects such as services and security. The investment
team of the Group considered that the investment in
SuperRobotics would be expected to generate returns
to the Group after the realisation and the large-scale
expansion of the use of relevant technologies in the
future.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(b) SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2

On 6 December 2019, the Group entered into a deed
of adherence and assignment, pursuant to which the
Group acquired the interest of 75% in the Absolute
Return Fund at the consideration of HK$160.00
million to become one of the limited partners, while
the Group also acted as the general partner and
manager of the Absolute Return Fund. The fair value
of SuperRobotics Shares Batch 2, being the asset/
portfolio investment under the Absolute Return Fund,
as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$186.03
million. Further details of the Absolute Return Fund
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated
6 December 2019. The Absolute Return Fund has
become an indirect subsidiary of the Group since 6
December 2019 according to the Group’s accounting
policy. Pursuant to the OBOR Funds Restructuring, the
Group further acquired 25% interest of the Absolute
Return Fund during the year of 2020 and became the
only limited partner of the Absolute Return Fund.

The Absolute Return Fund’s investment objective
was to generate returns by investing all or
substantially all of its assets in the equity securities
of the portfolio companies in the industry of in-
flight wireless network engineering and services as
their main business in Hong Kong (the “Portfolio
Investment 1”). The Absolute Return Fund might
choose to invest all or substantially all of its assets in
a single investment. It was therefore possible that the
underlying investments of the Portfolio Investment |
would be concentrated.
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(c)

With reference to the investment objectives of the
Absolute Return Fund, the Absolute Return Fund
held the Portfolio Investment | in relation to the
broad application of artificial intelligence technology
in telecommunications and the construction of
intelligent cities. The general partner and manager
continued to research on the industry of high and
new technology to expand the fund investing
activities. The Board considered that the subscription
of interests in the Absolute Return Fund was
beneficial to the Group and the Shareholders
as a whole, by generating the returns from the
investments and to enhance the experience of assets
management in the coming years.

SuperRobotics Shares Batch 3

On 29 May 2020, the Natural Resource Fund, the
Fixed Income Fund and the two limited partners
of the High-Tech Investment Fund entered into the
OBOR Funds Restructuring, pursuant to which each
of the Natural Resource Fund and the Fixed Income
Fund acquired the interest of 50% of the High-Tech
Investment Fund by assigning their note receivables to
the previous limited partners respectively to become
the new limited partners, while the Group also acted
as the general partner and manager of the High-
Tech Investment Fund. The series of restructuring and
debt assignment agreements took retrospective effect
on 1 January 2020. The fair value of SuperRobotics
Shares Batch 3, being the asset/portfolio investment
under the High-Tech Investment Fund, as at the date
of acquisitions amounted to HK$70.75 million. The
High-Tech Investment Fund had become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since 1
January 2020 according to the Group's accounting

policy.
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(d)

The High-Tech Investment Fund's investment objective
is to generate high risk-adjusted returns by primarily
investing in equity, equity-related investments,
fixed income securities, debt securities and loans
or convertible bonds in connection with high-tech
industries in Hong Kong (the “Portfolio Investment
n).

With reference to the investment objectives of the
High-Tech Investment Fund, the High-Tech Investment
Fund currently invests in the debt equity and holds
the Portfolio Investment Il in relation to the broad
application of artificial intelligence technology in the
industry of telecommunications and the construction
of intelligent cities. The general partner and manager
of the High-Tech Investment Fund continued to
research on the industry of high and new technology
to expand the fund investing activities. The Board
considered that the subscription of interests in
the High-Tech Investment Fund was beneficial to
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole, by
generating the returns from the investments and to
enhance the experience of assets management in the
coming years.

SuperRobotics Shares Batch 4

During the Year, the Group received of 5,200,000
shares and 8,333,333 shares from each of the two
independent third parties by the debt restructuring
respectively, totaling of 13,533,333 shares of the
SuperRobotics Shares.

As at the date of this report, the Group has held
approximately 28.4% shareholding in SuperRobotics
after the aforesaid reconstruction and the market
value of all SuperRobotics Shares was approximately
HK$50.31 million.
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(e) Huarong Financial Shares

On 8 December 2017, the Group acquired a total
number of 88,000,000 shares (the “Huarong
Investment Shares”) in Huarong Investment Stock
Corporation Limited (“Huarong Investment”)
(whose shares were then listed on the Stock Exchange
(HKSE Stock Code: 2277)) through a broker from an
independent third party at the price of HK$0.90 per
share. The total consideration of HK$79.20 million
for the acquisition of Huarong Investment Shares was
financed by the Group’s net proceeds received from
the exercise of the put option by the Group during
2017. On 5 February 2018 and 6 February 2018, the
Group further acquired a total of 2,600,000 Huarong
Investment Shares at the average price of HK$1.32
per share through a broker from an independent third
party. Further details of the acquisition of Huarong
Investment Shares in 2017 were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 December 2017.

The principal activities of Huarong Investment are
direct investments, foundation and substructure
construction services, financial services and others.

Due to the unexpected continuing downturn in the
share price performance of Huarong Investment,
the Group's investment team decided to minimise
the continuing unrealised losses by completing the
disposal of a total of 6,430,000 Huarong Investment
Shares through a broker at the total consideration
of approximately HK$3.35 million during the year of
2018.
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Huarong Investment together with Huarong
Financial published a joint announcement dated 11
November 2020 to disclose that the privatisation
scheme of Huarong Investment became effective
on 10 November 2020 and the withdrawal of the
listing of Huarong Investment Shares on the Stock
Exchange became effective on 12 November 2020
after the trading hours. Upon completion of the
privatisation scheme, the balance of 84,170,000
Huarong Investment Shares were converted into a
total of 237,359,400 shares (the “Huarong Financial
Shares”) in Huarong Financial on 13 November
2020.

The principal activities of Huarong Financial are (i)
engaging in the broking and dealing of securities,
futures and options contracts, as well as the provision
of margin financing services, (ii) engaging in the
provision of underwriting, sponsoring and financial
advisory services of securities to institutional clients,
(iii) engaging in the provision of asset management
services, as well as the direct investments in equities,
bonds, funds, derivative instruments and other
financial products, and (iv) involving in money
lending, the provision of pawn loan services and
the provision of financial lease services through its
subsidiaries.

As at the date of this report, all of the Huarong
Financial Shares have been pledged as security for
a long-term borrowing of HK$675.90 million of the
Group and the fair value of the Huarong Financial
was approximately HK$20.65 million.
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(7)

Bank of Gansu Shares

After the OBOR Funds Restructuring initiated by the
general partner and manager of the Fixed Income
Fund and Hong Kong Bridge One Belt One Road
Growth Income Fund, L.P. (the "Growth Fund”) of
which a subsidiary of the Group acted as the limited
partner, the Fixed Income Fund and the Growth Fund
held a total of 3,336,740 shares in Bank of Gansu
(the “Bank of Gansu Shares”) upon completion
of the OBOR Funds Restructuring. The initial cost of
such shares was HK$4.97 million at the date of the
execution of the OBOR Funds Restructuring. During
the year 2020, the Group also acquired 8,169,260
Bank of Gansu Shares at an initial cost of HK$24.34
million.

Bank of Gansu mainly operates its businesses
through three segments: (i) the corporate banking
segment, which offers financial products and services,
including loans, discounted bills, deposits, and fee-
and commission-based products and services; (ii)
the financial market operation segment, which
issues debit cards denominated in Renminbi to retail
customers holding deposit accounts with the Bank
of Gansu; and (iii) the retail banking segment, which
offers retail customers financial products and services
including loans, discounted bills, deposits, and fee-
and commission-based products and services.

During the Year, the investment in the Bank of Gansu
Shares recorded an unrealised fair value loss of
HK$5.18 million (2021: HK$0.23 million) due to the
unexpected downturn in the share price performance
of Bank of Gansu. With reference to the investment
objectives of the Fixed Income Fund and the Growth
Fund, the general partner and manager considered
that the investment in Bank of Gansu was beneficial
to the Group and the Shareholders as a whole, by
generating the returns from medium to long term
investments and by enhancing the experience of
assets management in the coming years.
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As at the date of this report, all of the Bank of
Gansu Shares have been pledged as security for the
long-term borrowings of HK$675.90 million in total
and the fair value of the Bank of Gansu Shares was
approximately HK$10.36 million.

(IV) Deposits of Investment in Potential Business

42

Following the strategic upgrade and the implementation
of new strategic plan of the Group, the Group entered
into two investment agreements with two different
independent third parties respectively and paid the
investment deposit of HK$50.00 million for securing the
potential new businesses in the PRC in January 2019
respectively. The transactions of investment deposit
payment did not constitute a disclosable transaction
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules as all the applicable
percentage ratios under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules
in respect of the transactions were less than 5% at the
date of the investment agreements. The deposits were
recorded as other receivables in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Having conducted the due diligence on each potential
investment, the management of the Group acknowledged
that certain criteria of the two potential investments
did not meet the Group's expectation and decided to
negotiate for the withdrawal of the investment deposits
in due course. Although the due date for the refund of
investment deposits had been extended to 31 December
2021, the Group expected the investment deposits could
only be fully recovered in one or two years. Having
considered that there was significant increase in the
credit risk on the deposits which might not be able to
be refunded before the original maturity date due to
the COVID-19 outbreak, the management of the Group
decided to provide additional impairment loss of HK$21.00
million for the other receivables for the year ended 31
December 2020 according to the HKFRS 9.

Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2022

HEAREHE 28ERETR
meEtfEar~EBRRIAEM675.90A
BETHNRFRAEHEEBITRON
HIBEBENA10368EBT

(V) BEEHREEFEN

B 7 55 [ 2 17 B B T AR K BB e T B B 5t
BB AEEDRERZNREILE=
AHEULTMERERZ TR _F
—NFE—BXfT50.008E8BTHRE
ReE® > MUERETBENBEMES R
BEDRAFE14.071% AR EDBEEIE
BRETHXZFMBERNBADILERERSE
HEE B NBIES% Rk EHRAE
45 EREVEINRZHRDHIE
HATRENXGREMZ -ZEHFME
SCAREE A G BB R R A9 H th FE U
th o

EHEEBIRBEETEHRATR A&
EEEEMTEMEBIRENTE LR
BEAFEAERNER FILATESHE
B AETHKAUBEZEREGTR &
EREZERERFTNIHPHEEER
E_E -+ _A=+—H mAxEHEH
FE R EIMFEANZEROZERERE
T BERIBRFTEREEL TRV
HEIAHAIREREEEZSERERE S
ZERETNEHARABBEILN £5&
EEEEATREBEEEVHBRGENSE
S EBEZTEF+ZA=+—HL
FENHMBURGHREINREBERERELDY
21.00E&ETe



On 17 May 2021,
with two different independent third parties respectively
to receive the deposit of HK$50.00 million on or before 31
December 2022 by assigning its investment rights. Thus,
the accumulated impairment loss of HK$23.00 million
as at 31 December 2020 was expected to be reduced to
HK$20.00 million as at 31 December 2021. The carrying
value of the other receivables in relation to this deposit
amounted to HK$80.00 million as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: HK$80.00 million) and no further
impairment loss was provided during the Year because
the Group is currently in the process of finalising the
restructuring agreement.

the Group entered into an agreement

PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

During the Year, the Group also engaged in the provision of
financial assistance to some independent third parties. As at 31
December 2022, the total outstanding receivables in relation to
this activity amounted to approximately HK$854.75 million (31
December 2021: HK$1,208.32 million) and those transactions
set out below were relatively significant to the Group at the
time of entering into the relevant agreements between the
Group and those relevant independent third parties respectively.

The Group had provided additional impairment of approximately
HK$360.62 million (2021: HK$213.64 million) for those overdue
financial assistances during the Year. The Board was of the
opinion that such impairment provided by the Group were
made in accordance with the requirements of the accounting
standards. In order to lower the investment risks and reduce
the losses, the Group puts its best efforts to maximise the
recovery of the relevant financial assistances by restructuring or

conducting lawsuits against several debtors.

Due to the continuing adverse impacts of the COVID-19
outbreak, the Board will keep assessing and ascertaining the
recoverability of the following transactions closely and may
further increase the provisions for impairment for the coming
years.
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(@) Zhanjiang Advance

14

On 22 March 2017, the Group entered into a loan
facility agreement with Zhanjiang Dingsheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.* CE I REEMERZEERAE)
(the “Zhanjiang Borrower”) and the guarantors for the
provision of a loan facility of not more than RMB200.00
million (the “Zhanjiang Advance”). Details in relation to
the provision of the financial assistance were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 March 2017.

Due to the default in repayment and failure of negotiation
for settlement of the Zhanjiang Advance, the Group filed
a statement of claim (#&F#4X) on 30 June 2019 at the
Shaoguan Intermediate People’s Court (B8R AR A
EJAFD) (the “Shaoguan Court”) against the Zhanjiang
Borrower and the guarantors to claim for the principal
amount of the Zhanjiang Advance of RMB200.00 million
and the interest accrued which remained outstanding
amounted to approximately RMB60.75 million as at 30
June 2019. Subsequent to such filing, the Group received
a notice of acceptance for litigation proceedings (3222
@A Z) issued by the Shaoguan Court on 16 July 2019.
On 24 July 2019, the Group paid the required litigation fee
to the Shaoguan Court to confirm the first hearing of the
said litigation proceedings which was originally scheduled
to be held on 20 August 2019, but was adjourned to
be held on 14 February 2020. Details in relation to the
aforesaid legal proceedings were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 July 2019.

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group was informed
by the Shaoguan Court on 2 February 2020 that the date
of the first hearing of the said litigation proceedings was
adjourned to a date and time to be determined in due
course. The first hearing of the said litigation proceedings
was held on 9 July 2020.
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On 21 January 2021, the Group received the first
judgement issued by Shaoguan Court (the “First
Judgement”). It was held that the Zhanjiang Borrower
and the guarantors were liable to make payment to
the Group for (i) the total sum of about RMB178.36
million (the “New Principal”), including the outstanding
principal and interests accrued at the rate of 4.75% per
annum from the borrowing date to 16 May 2019, (ii) the
interest on the amount of the New Principal accrued from
16 May 2019 to 19 August 2019 at the rate of 4.75%
per annum, and (iii) the interest on any outstanding
amount commencing from 20 August 2019 until the final
settlement of the amount of the New Principal would
accrue at the one-year term of Loan Prime Rate (B
M B MEFIX) announced by the National Interbank
Funding Center (2EIRITRIEIZEIFRMESH L) in the PRC.
The Group subsequently filed an appeal against the First
Judgement on 9 February 2021 after having consulted with
its PRC legal advisors. Subsequent to such filing of appeal,
the Group received a notice of acceptance for appeal
proceedings issued by Shaoguan Court on 19 February
2021. However, in order to recover this financial assistance
as soon as possible by way of exercising its right in the
55% equity interest in the Zhanjiang Borrower, the Group
withdrew the appeal and received the withdrawal notice
from the Shaoguan Court on 16 July 2021, and the Group
received the final judgement dated 8 July 2021 (the “Final
Judgement”).

Pursuant to the Final Judgement, the Group applied to
the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court GEIIH
M NEEBT) (the “Shenzhen Court”) on 10 August
2021 to exercise its right in the 55% equity interest in
the Zhanjiang Borrower. On 8 October 2021, the Group
received the judgement dated 29 September 2021 from
the Shenzhen Court which objected the Group to apply
the exercise of such rights in the Shenzhen Court. After
consulting with its PRC legal advisors, the Group submitted
an objection to such judgement from the Shenzhen Court
to The High People’s Court of Guangdong Province (B
B S/ AR AR (the “Guangdong High Court”) for the
final appeal on 15 October 2021.
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Due to the failure of Zhanjiang Borrower to make
repayment and having regard to the lengthy legal
proceedings and enforcement process, the management
of the Group considered that the loan amount due from
the Zhangjiang Borrower would probably not be able
to be recovered until second half of year 2023. Having
considered the existing market value of the collaterals,
no further impairment loss was provided for the Year
for the loan receivable according to the HKFRS 9 (2021:
HK$16.53 million) in the opinion of the management of
the Group. The carrying amount of the amount due from
the Zhanjiang Borrower after the accumulated impairment
loss of HK$76.96 million as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$197.88 million (31 December 2021:
HK$197.88 million).

As at the date of this report, the Group has not yet
received any details on the hearing of the relevant legal
proceedings from the Guangdong High Court but will keep
on consulting with its PRC legal advisors for exploring
further legal actions. Further announcement(s) regarding
any significant developments on the above litigation will be
published as and when appropriate.
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(b) Zhonghong Advance

On 25 January 2018, the Group entered into a loan
agreement with Zhonghong Holding Co., Ltd.* (FF3A3%
RIEHEFRAT) (the “Zhonghong Borrower”) for
the amount of RMB200.00 million (the “Zhonghong
Advance”). On 3 September 2018, the Group and the
Zhonghong Borrower further entered into a supplemental
agreement with each of Weifang Hengqi Changsheng
Co., Ltd.* (#1HIEEHEREBRAE) (the "Weifang
Borrower”) and Grandcheer Limited (the “Grandcheer
Borrower"”) respectively, and a guarantee agreement
with the Weifang Borrower and the Grandcheer Borrower.
Pursuant to the said agreements, both amounts due from
Weifang Borrower of RMB90.00 million and Grandcheer
Borrower of HK$48.00 million (together with the
Zhonghong Advance totalling approximately HK$381.50
million, collectively the “"New Zhonghong Advance”)
were to be repaid by Zhonghong Borrower on a joint basis,
with interest calculated for accrued amount at the rate of
24% per annum commencing from 12 May 2018 until the
final settlement of the loan principal has been received. In
addition, the New Zhonghong Advance under the aforesaid
supplemental agreements were guaranteed by the
Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors, which
are indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Zhonghong
Borrower with the Sea Area Use Certificate (13 (& F3 &
F5E) from State Ocean Administration (EZE%/E) in
the PRC under the process of land reclamation for further
property development and tourism project.
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To secure the recovery of the principal amount of the New
Zhonghong Advance and to reduce the risk of impairment
loss, on 13 September 2018, the Group had filed an
application for arbitration proceedings at the Shenzhen
Court of International Arbitration (the “SCIA") against
the Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors
for the breach of the aforesaid supplemental agreements
and guarantee agreement. On 18 September 2018, the
Group received the notice of acceptance for arbitration
proceedings issued by the SCIA. In January 2019, hearing
of the arbitration proceedings was conducted. At the
end of April 2019, the Group received the arbitral awards
(FRZE) (the "Arbitral Awards”) dated 25 April 2019
given by the SCIA in respect of the aforesaid arbitration
proceedings. Further details of the Zhonghong Advance
in relation to the provision of financial assistance and the
abovesaid developments on the arbitrations were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 13 February 2018,
19 March 2018, 25 May 2018, 6 September 2018, 20
September 2018 and 3 May 2019 respectively.

As at the date of this report, the disposal of the Sea
Area Use Certificate (B3 FA#58E) via public auction
approved by the Hainan Province Haikou Intermediate
People’s Court (the “Hainan Court”) (Bm&/EOMmH
R NERABT), together with the relevant properties held
by the guarantors of Zhonghong Borrower as pledged
securities of the New Zhonghong Advance which had been
held by the Group had not yet been initiated. The Group
will continue to consult its PRC legal advisors for exploring
whether further legal actions could be made against
Zhonghong Borrower and the relevant guarantors. Further
announcement(s) regarding any significant developments
on the above arbitrations will be published as and when
appropriate.

Meanwhile, in order to increase the recoverability of the
New Zhonghong Advance, the Group had been exploring
potential well-known buyers or property developers during
the past two years to set up a restructuring arrangement
between Zhonghong Borrower and the existing creditors of
Zhonghong Borrower.
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(c)

Pursuant to the Arbitral Awards, the Group could apply
to the Hainan Court to auction the relevant guarantor’s
assets. However, the recovering process of the New
Zhonghong Advance would involve restructuring discussion
with other major creditors of the Zhonghong Borrower.
In the opinion of the management of the Group, the
outstanding amount of the New Zhonghong Advance
would likely to be recovered within three to four years.
Although the restructuring plan would be complicated
and time consuming, however, having considered the
existing market values of the collaterals, no further
impairment loss was provided during the Year for the New
Zhonghong Advance in the opinion of the management
of the Group according to the HKFRS 9 (2021: HK$16.30
million). The carrying amount of the amount due from the
Zhonghong Borrower after the accumulated impairment
loss of HK$246.10 million as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$215.33 million (31 December 2021:
HK$215.33 million).

As at the date of this report, the New Zhonghong Advance
has been pledged as security for a long-term borrowing of
HK$675.90 million of the Group.

China Gem Jiangsu Advance

The Group entered into a loan agreement dated 19
October 2017 with China Gem Enterprise Development
(Jiangsu) Limited* (FE¥EZEE C1E) AR A T) (the
“China Gem lJiangsu Borrower”) for the provision of
a loan of RMB100.00 million (the “China Gem lJiangsu
Advance”) with the interest rate of 9% per annum
and extra undertaking of interest of 9% per annum of
the principal amount. The collaterals of the loan were
493,160,000 shares of China Gem Holdings Limited
("China Gem"), whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 1191)
(the “China Gem Shares”) and HK$150.00 million equity
interests in a fund owned by a related company of China
Gem Jiangsu Borrower. The transaction of the China
Gem Jiangsu Advance did not constitute a disclosable
transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules as all
the applicable percentage ratios under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the transaction were less than
5% as at the date of the loan agreement.

(c)
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On 28 August 2019, the Group and China Gem lJiangsu
Borrower entered into a supplemental agreement to lower
the interest rate to 12% per annum and extended the
expiry date of the loan to 30 June 2020 after obtaining
additional China Gem Shares, pre-sale agreements in
properties in the PRC and interest in a fund held by China
Gem Jiangsu Borrower as further securities.

Since the financial performance and the status of business
operations of China Gem Jiangsu Borrower as at 31
December 2022 were worse than those of the previous
years, no settlement had been received during the Year.
In addition, the market value of the collaterals of the
loan had been declining enormously as the China Gem
Shares on the Stock Exchange had been suspended trading
since 30 August 2021. China Gem is in the proceeding
of winding-up petition by the Court of First Instance of
High Court of Hong Kong. As the default in repayment by
China Gem Jiangsu Borrower caused significant increase
in the credit risk on the Group's loan receivables, it was
considered that credit-impairment loss should be made
for China Gem Jiangsu Borrower as at 31 December
2022. The management of the Group decided to provide
additional impairment loss of HK$5.92 million for the Year
(2021: HK$55.13 million) in view of the loan receivables
overdue from China Gem Jiangsu Borrower. The carrying
amount due from China Gem Jiangsu Borrower after the
accumulated impairment loss of HK$151.01 million as
at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: HK$145.09
million) was HK$Nil (31 December 2021: HK$5.92 million).
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PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND

ASSET AND SHAREHOLDING RESTRUCTURING

BUSINESS
(a) Description of the Business Model

The Company engages in, among others, (a) the provision
of financial assistance; and (b) the asset and shareholding
restructuring business during the Year.

The provision of financial assistance is a kind of business
activities in the treasury investments segment. The treasury
investments team has been continuing to make effective
use of its available financial resources in monitoring and
making investment/disposal on a wide variety of financial
assets including investments in listed equity securities,
investments in funds and the provision of financial
assistance to independent third parties. For details of the
provision of financial assistance, please also refer to the
paragraphs headed “Provision of Financial Assistance”
above on pages 43 to 50.

The asset and shareholding restructuring business is a kind
of business activities in the financial services segment.
The Group has been actively participating in asset
management, consultancy services, corporate solution
services and debt, asset and shareholding restructuring
business in Hong Kong and PRC through the subscription
and/or holding of interest in funds. For details of the asset
and shareholding restructuring business, please also refer
to the paragraphs headed “(e) Hong Kong Bridge One
Belt One Road M&A Fund LP", “(f) Hong Kong Bridge
High-Tech Investment Fund LP” and “(g) Hong Kong
Bridge Landmark Investment Fund LP" of this report on
pages 26 to 30.
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During the Year and as at the date of this report, the
Group did not hold any licenses in relation to the provision
of financial assistance and the asset and shareholding
restructuring business for the provision of financial
assistance business. The Group did not target on a specific
group of customers. The customers of the Group, as at
the date of this report, were mainly the Group’s business
partners or companies referred by the former and existing
substantial shareholders and/or former executive Directors
of the Company.

Since 1 January 2021 and up to the date of this report, the

Group has not granted any new loan to independent third
parties.
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(b) The Amount of Loan Receivables Due from the Top
Five Largest Borrowers
The total loan receivables of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021 were HK$786 million and
HK$1,070 million respectively. The carrying amount of loan
receivables due from the top five borrowers together with
the percentage to the total loan receivables of the Group
are set out below:
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Borrower

fEmA

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZH¥+ZB=+—H

Amount

E

As at 31 December 2021
RZEZ—-%+ZB=+—H

The Zhanjiang Borrower
BTERA

The Zhonghong Borrower

EN RN

The Strait Borrower
BIRERA

The Weifang Borrower
i 35L=EON

Shenzhen Zehua International Trade Co., Ltd.*
(the "Zehua Borrower”)

AT EEEREZERAT

(MEEF/RA)

HK$197,884,643
197,884,643 7T

HK$112,224,217
112,224,178 7T

HK$110,611,027
110,611,02778 7T

HK$71,960,548
71,960,548 78 7T

HK$55,905,237

55,905,2378 7T

% to % to
total loan total loan
receivables Amount receivables
%14 FE UK %14 FE UK
Briags TR BB
25.19% HK$197,884,643 18%
25.19%  197,884,6438 7T 18%
14.28% HK$112,224,217 10%
14.28%  112,224,21758 7% 10%
14.07% HK$221,222,054 21%
14.07% 221,222,054 7% 21%
9.16% HK$71,960,548 7%
9.16% 71,960,548 7 7%
7.12% HK$89,448,380 8%
7.12% 89,448,38075 7T 8%
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(c) Reasons for the Significant Loan and Notes

54

Impairments Made

Under the circumstances of the worldwide capital market
fluctuations and the adverse impact brought by the
COVID-19 outbreak, the Group’s customers, in particular
those located in the PRC (such as the Zhanjiang Borrower,
the China Gem Jiangsu Borrower and the Zehua Borrower),
have suffered from the decrease in their revenue and the
long-term difficulty in obtaining funds from local banks
in the PRC in the past three years. The significant loans
and notes impairments made during the Year were mainly
caused by the borrowers failing to repay the principal
amounts of the loans and note receivables on time as
agreed due to the shortfall in their operating cash flow.

The progress for conducting certain activities for the asset
and shareholding restructuring of the borrowers (such as
the restructuring of certain assets of the Strait Borrower,
the Zhonghong Borrower, the Weifang Borrower, the
Grandcheer Borrower and/or certain collaterals provided
by their guarantors) has been significantly delayed due to
a series of precautionary and control measures that have
been implemented across the PRC and Hong Kong since
January 2020 caused by the COVID-19 outbreak. As a
result, the Group could not provide sufficient evidences
in writing to satisfy the recoverability of certain loans and
note receivables because no written formal agreements on
debt restructuring have been entered into.
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(d) Business Prospect for the Provision of Financial

Assistance and the Asset and Shareholding
Restructuring Business

The Group acknowledged that the COVID-19 outbreak
may continue to hinder the repayment of the debts by
the borrowers of the loans and issuers of the bonds to
the Group in the coming years, resulting in additional
provision for impairment loss for the loan receivables
and note receivables and material impact on the financial
results of the Group. The Group will actively place
the utmost importance on pandemic prevention and
control, and closely monitor the day-to-day operations
and management of its principal businesses to reduce
the adverse impacts on the Group's operations and
financial performance caused by the COVID-19 outbreak.
Considering the provision for impairment losses on the
Group's business on the provision of financial assistance
and the asset and shareholding restructuring, the Group
would continue to use its best endeavour to recover the
investment loss from the aforesaid business in the next
three years and decided to gradually cease to engage in
the significant amounts of the transactions in respect of
the Provision of Financial Assistance and the Asset and
Shareholding Restructuring Business.

In the opinions of the Board and the management of the
Company, the Group is currently reforming its business
of the treasury investments and financial services to
make effective use of its available financial resources. The
Company intended to gradually transform its business
from debt investment to the portfolio investment and
equity investment to gain the short-term return. Once the
funds from the Provision of Financial Assistance and the
Asset and Shareholding Restructuring Business has been
collected by way of conducting the debt restructuring, the
Company intends to obtain the money lending license in
Hong Kong to further improve the treasury investments
segment and the financial services segment in future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN @A RO

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS IN CONNECTION
WITH PROVISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES AND
SHAREHOLDING RESTRUCTURING BUSINESS
(a) Credit Risk Assessment
The Group has been providing financial assistance and
shareholdings restructuring services for the corporate
customers (for non-individual customers) in Hong Kong
and China and has not targeted any specific industry.

Prior to the provision of financial assistance or making an
investment, the management of the Group will conduct
due diligence on the potential customers. The due
diligence procedures included conducting research on the
customers’ background, evaluating its current business
operations and financial conditions, market reputation
and creditability, and conducting financial analysis and
recoverability analysis. To minimise credit or investment
risks, the Group will typically require guarantees, including
personal guarantees and corporate guarantees, and/
or collaterals with expected realised value exceeding the
loan or investment amount. Furthermore, for the existing
customers, the Group will evaluate its past business
relationships with them and their track records as factors
to extend loan duration or otherwise continue to maintain
business relationship.

During the subsistence of the financial assistance or the
investment, the Group has implemented various on-
going monitoring and risk management procedures which
include conducting regular visits and interviews with the
customers, requesting the customers to furnish periodic
financial information, conducting public searches and
obtaining information on any legal disputes, negative
news and media reports on the business or affairs of the
customers to understand its latest business development
and management condition, in order to conduct
continuous assessment on the customers’ repayment
ability.
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(b) Mechanism in Determining Loan Term

(c)

The Group generally provides short-term loans with a
repayment term of less than three years which carry
higher interest rate than the market rate usually charged
by financial institutions. The repayment terms and
conditions are determined from the factors including the
liquidity needs of the customers and the Group’s funding
and cash flows management strategies. The Group will
also make reference to the terms and conditions of loan
arrangements provided by the financial institutions in
the Mainland China and Hong Kong to companies in the
same industry of the customers to ensure that the loan
or investment agreements between the Group and its
customers are on normal commercial terms and are fair
and reasonable.

Monitoring Loan Repayment and Recovery

The management of the Group will regularly communicate
with and monitor and manage the recoverability of loans
and conditions of the customers. If a customer fails to
repay the loan or interest on time or fails to comply with
material term of the investment agreement on payment or
settlement of investment return, the management of the
Group will first take steps to understand the reasons for its
default (for instance, whether the customer’s business had
experienced any operational difficulties, any other major
debt cross-defaults, any winding-up petitions filed against
the customer, etc.) and will take appropriate steps in light
of the situation and urgency of the matter. Generally, the
following procedures for debt recovery will be taken:

Stage 1: Assess the possibility for the customer to repay
the loan or receivables within one year for the purpose of
determining whether a time extension for such repayment
will be granted or business relationship be otherwise
maintained.
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(d)

58

Stage 2: Assess the possibility of realising the collaterals
provided and methods for disposal to recoup the loss.

Stage 3: Engage its legal adviser to commence necessary
legal actions against the customer and/or the guarantor(s)
including the obtaining of court or arbitrary order for
seizure, private sale or public auction of assets of the
borrowers.

Impairment Loss and Write-off Treatment

In general, where the management of the Group has
noticed the following circumstances, there may be possible
default in the loans or receivables concerned and provision
for impairment loss under the ECL model (as defined
below) may be necessary:

(i)  the customers experienced operational difficulties;
(i) worsened macroeconomic and industry conditions,
leading to further deterioration of the financial

conditions of the customers; or

the customers have been involved in lawsuits for debt
collection.

(iii)

The Group uses “expected credit losses (the “ECL")
model” as an impairment model according to HKFRS
9 which requires the Group to estimate the weighted
possibility of default events and recognise ECLs for
trade and other receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost accordingly.

Under HKFRS 9, the loss allowances are measured on either
of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) life-time ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life-time of a
financial instrument.
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The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to fulfill its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

For financial assets at amortised cost of investment
segments (i.e. trade and other receivables, loan and
note receivables and loans to associates), the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the life-
time ECLs. For determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group would
consider reasonable and supporting information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group has considered the probability of default and
the loss given default with reference to (i) the value of
collateral/other contractual arrangements, (ii) financial
ability of the debtors and (iii) other forward-looking
factors, if any. Time value of money is also considered if
the receivable is expected to be received more than one
year after the reporting date.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 26 May 2022 (after trading hours), the Company and Aristo
Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Placing Agent had conditionally agreed to procure the placing
(the “Placing”) of a maximum of 440,000,000 ordinary shares
(the “Shares”) of HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company
(the “Placing Share(s)”) on best endeavor basis to expected
not less than six placees at a price of HK$0.1 per Placing Share
(the “Placing Price”). The aggregate nominal value of the
Placing Shares was HK$44,000,000. The closing price as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on 26 May 2022 was HK$0.109 per
share.
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In view of the then market conditions, the Directors considered
that the Placing represents an opportunity for the Group to
raise additional funds to further strengthen its capital base and
financial position, including its ability to meet and settle its
expenses and any future obligations and to support the Group’s
continuous development and business growth as well as daily
operating expenses.

Completion of the Placing took place on 20 June 2022 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Placing
Agreement in which an aggregate of 440,000,000 Placing
Shares had been successfully placed to not less than six placees
at the Placing Price of HK$0.1 per Placing Share. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and
having made all reasonable enquiries and as informed by the
Placing Agent, (i) each of the placees (who were independent
institutional, professional, individual and/or corporate investors)
and its respective ultimate beneficial owner(s) (if any) was
independent of and not acting in concert (as defined in the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs) with
or connected with each other, or with any directors, chief
executive, controlling shareholder(s) (if any) (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) or substantial shareholder(s) (if any) (within
the meaning of the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and each of the placees and its respective
ultimate beneficial owners (if any) was not a connected person
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company; and (ii) none
of the placees has become a substantial shareholder of the
Company immediately after completion of the Placing.
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The 440,000,000 Placing Shares were allotted and issued under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by a resolution
of the Shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 25 June 2021,
represent (i) approximately 19.93% of the issued share capital
of the Company immediately before completion of the Placing;
and (ii) approximately 16.62% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the
440,000,000 Placing Shares immediately after completion of the
Placing.

such Placing Shares

The gross proceeds from the Placing amounted to
HK$44,000,000, the net proceeds from the Placing (after
deducting all applicable costs and expenses, including
commission and levies) amounted to approximately
HK$41,360,000 and the net price per Placing Share was
approximately HK$0.094. As disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 May 2022 and 20 June 2022, the
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Placing
for general corporate expenses purpose (such as payment for
salaries and emoluments of staff of the Group, office rentals
and expenses and service fees to external service providers)
as well as general working capital purpose. During the Year,
approximately HK$14.75 million of the net proceeds had been
utilised for general working capital purpose and approximately
HK$21.25 million of the net proceeds had been utilised for
general corporate expenses purpose. Approximately HK$5.36
million of the net proceeds had been utilised for general
corporate expenses purpose during the second half year of
2022. The net proceeds were used and proposed to be used
in accordance with the intentions previously disclosed by the
Company in its announcements dated 26 May 2022 and 20
June 2022 respectively.

For details of the Placing, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 26 May 2022, 2 June 2022 and 20 June
2022 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN @A RO

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Sales of the Group’s products in manufacturing segment are
principally denominated in US dollars and the purchases of
materials and payments of operational expenses are mainly
denominated in US dollars, HK dollars and RMB. Most of
the Group’s purchases and expenses during the Year were
denominated in RMB. As such, the Group had incurred a
net exchange loss of HK$13.75 million for the Year (2021:
HK$16.35 million) due to the depreciation of US dollars and
RMB.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not entered into any
financial instruments for hedging purpose. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure in
the future and will consider hedging such exposure to minimise
exchange risk should the need arise.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

(a) Macroeconomic Risk
The Group is operating in a highly competitive business
and economic environment, the manufacturing segment
in particular. Manufacturing segment is in a turmoil,
being greatly affected by the recent Sino-US trade war,
Ukraine war, the increasing tension in the Taiwan straits,
complications caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and
its customers which are highly volatile, combined with
the rising labour and production costs. The Group's
manufacturing segment has to compete with its
competitors on various factors, such as product variety,
product performance, customer service, quality, pricing,
new product innovation, timely delivery and brand
recognition.

On the other hand, volatility in the Hong Kong securities
market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised
fair value gains or losses. An interest rate hike is likely and
will not only affect the Group’s cost of borrowings, but
also costs of purchase of materials.
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(b) Credit Risk

(c)

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made and services are provided to customers with
an appropriate credit history. The Group mainly trades
with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that credit terms are granted subject to in-
depth credit verification procedures. In addition, trade
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
trade receivable balances of manufacturing segment are
substantially covered by credit insurance. In this regard, the
management considers that the Group’s credit risk under
the manufacturing segment is minimal. Since the Group
mainly trades with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collaterals.

In respect of loans to associates, loan receivables and
note receivables, the Group assesses the background and
financial conditions of the debtors, and requests securities
pledged from the debtors and/or guarantee as collaterals
from the debtors’ related parties in order to minimise credit
risk.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, which would
cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to
perform an obligation by the counterparties arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets, was stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

Foreign Currency Risk

As the PCBs business is operating in the PRC, the Company
faces foreign currency risks due to the exchange gain/loss
from exchange rate fluctuations as well as the currency
conversion risk due to the converted net asset value
fluctuations of investment projects in the PRC. To manage
the foreign currency risk effectively, the Company closely
monitors foreign exchange markets and utilises multiple
strategic approaches, such as optimising cash management
strategy and deploying project finance instruments, to
control foreign exchange risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN @A RO

NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
As at 31 December 2022, excluding those employed by the
Company's associates, the Group had 874 employees (31
December 2021: 1,115 employees). For the Year, our total
staff costs amounted to HK$101.47 million (2021: HK$138.81
million).

Under the Group's remuneration policy, employees (including
the directors and senior management of the Group) are
rewarded in line with market rate and in compliance with
statutory requirements of all jurisdictions where it operates.
Employees are also granted discretionary bonus subject to the
individual's performance and business results of the Group.

The Group follows a policy of encouraging its subsidiaries to
send their staff to attend training classes or seminars that are
related directly or indirectly to the Group's businesses.

DETAILS OF CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details of charges on the Group’s assets for the Year are set out
and in the paragraph headed “Significant Investments” and
"Provision of Financial Assistance” under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report on
pages 16 and 43 respectively and in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$33,000 (31 December 2021: HK$Nil) and had
no material contingent liabilities (31 December 2021: HK$Nil).

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 28 June 2022, 8 July 2022, 20 July 2022, 29 July 2022
and 12 August 2022 respectively (collectively, the “R13.09 and
13.19 Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalised
terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the R13.09 and 13.19 Announcements.
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Further to the HK Demand Letter, the PRC Demand Letter, the
Second HK Demand Letter, and the Second PRC Demand Letter,
a letter (the “"Third HK Demand Letter”) dated 9 August 2022
(and issued by the Hong Kong legal advisers of the Lender) was
received by the Company, which was addressed to the Company
and the Guarantor Subsidiaries in relation to the Loan and the
Guarantee. It was stated in the Third HK Demand Letter that
(among other matters):

(i)  the Lender had set 12 August 2022 as the deadline for the
group (either as Borrower, co-guarantors or otherwise) to
fully repay the Outstanding Sum; and

(i) if the Lender failed to receive full repayment of the

Outstanding Sum on or before 12 August 2022, the Lender

should commence legal proceedings against the Company

and the Guarantor Subsidiaries to enforce its rights for
repayment of the Outstanding Sum and/or its rights over
the collaterals held by it.

The Group were not able to repay the entirety of the alleged
Outstanding Sum by 12 August 2022. The Group will continue
to assess the impact in connection with the HK Demand Letter,
the PRC Demand Letter, the Second HK Demand Letter, the
Second PRC Demand Letter, the Third HK Demand Letter and is
seeking professional advice, including but not limited to legal
and financial advice, on the actions it may take in relation to the
alleged Outstanding Sum and/or the said letters.

As at the date of this report, the Group has already engaged
legal advisers and has been proactively negotiating with the
Lender on the possibility of extending the repayment date of the
Loan and other possible options. Further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules
as and when appropriate or required. For further details, please
refer to the R13.09 and 13.19 Announcements.
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QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in the Company's annual results announcement
for the Year dated 30 March 2023, the announcements of
the Company dated 31 May 2022 and 18 January 2023 and
the 2021 Annual Report, the auditor of the Company (the
“Auditor”) continued to express the qualified opinion (the
"Qualification”) in relation to the following:

(i) the recoverability of a loan to an associate, certain
trade receivables, loan receivables, note receivables and
certain other receivables of HK$55,907,000, HK$Nil,
HK$785,703,000, HK$69,049,000 and HK$57,295,000
as at 31 December 2022 respectively, and the respective
balances as at 31 December 2021, and whether their
respective loss allowance provisions for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 respectively were appropriately
recorded;

(i) the nature and obligation of other payables and accruals
of approximately HK$19,042,000 as at 31 December 2022
and the balance of approximately HK$67,014,000 as at
31 December 2021, and whether the amounts of written
back on other payables and accruals for the year ended
31 December 2022 of approximately HK$38,268,000 were
appropriately recorded,

(iii) the Auditor satisfied that the balance of deferred tax
assets is fairly stated as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
but whether the amounts of deferred tax expense of
approximately HK$57,920,000 for the years ended 31
December 2021 were appropriately recorded; and

(iv) the obligation of tax payables of approximately
HK$268,471,000 as at 31 December 2022 and the balance
of approximately HK$270,020,000 as at 31 December
2021 and whether the income tax expense and credit for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively
were appropriately recorded.
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(I) Reasons for the Qualification

(a)

(b)

Recoverability of the Receivables

To confirm the recoverability of a loan to an
associate, certain trade receivables, loan receivables,
note receivables and certain other receivables
of approximately HK$967,954,000 as at 31
December 2022 (the “Receivables”), the Auditor
requested, among other things, the audit evidence
of subsequent settlements of the Receivables that
may be received by the Group. However, as at the
date of this report, the Group did not receive any
subsequent settlements of any of the Receivables and
hence none of the documents or materials in relation
to subsequent settlements were presented to the
Auditor. The Auditor was, therefore, unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy the
recoverability of the Receivables.

Nature of the Other Payables

To verify and confirm the nature of other payables
and accruals of approximately HK$19,042,000 as
at 31 December 2022 (the “Other Payables”),
the Auditor mainly requested for the related
contracts and/or agreements, payment advices
or slips, statements and calculation basis. The
Company has provided to the Auditor all details of
the identified transactions in relation to the Other
Payables. However, as some of the supporting
documents in respect of some short-term borrowings
agreed by way of oral confirmation, such as the
balance confirmation from the lenders or further
supplemental written agreements were not available
to be provided by the Company to the Auditor.
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(c) Tax assessment of the Tax Payables and the

Deferred Tax Assets

To verify and confirm the obligation of tax payables
of approximately HK$268,471,000 as at 31 December
2022 (the "Tax Payables”) and the future utilisation
of the amounts of deferred tax assets of HK$Nil as at
31 December 2022 (the “"Deferred Tax Assets”), the
Auditor mainly requested for the final tax assessment
of each subsidiary of the Company from Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”). The Company
has notified the chargeability of Hong Kong profits
tax to IRD and provided to the Auditor all details of
the profits tax computation in relation to the Tax
Payables. However, as at the date of this report, the
final tax assessment from IRD had not been issued
and presented to the Auditor up to the date of this
report. Accordingly, the Auditor could only verify
and confirm the future utilisation of the Deferred Tax
Assets when the obligation of the Tax Payables has
been verified and confirmed.

Impact on the Company’s Financial Position
(a) Receivables

Given that the Receivables in the aggregate sum
of approximately HK$967.95 million has been
long overdue and remained outstanding as at 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$1,388.04 million),
the Company has continued to negotiate with
the counterparties for settlement proposal and/
or commenced or considering to commence legal
actions and/or litigation proceedings against the
relevant counterparties with a view to recover the
Receivables.

As the recoverability of the Receivables is subject
to the outcome of any effective or successful
negotiations or litigations which have not yet to
be materialised as at the date of this report, the
Auditor was not satisfied on the recoverability of the
Receivables.
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(b)

(c)

In the event that the entire aggregate amount of the
Receivables could not be recovered by the Group,
the Group may have to write off the Receivables
and record a potential impairment loss/written off of
approximately HK$967.95 million.

Other Payables

In the event that the outstanding Other Payables were
overstated, the Group may have to record an income
in its consolidated statement of profit or loss of the
financial statements (the “Financial Statements”).

In the event that the outstanding Other Payables
were understated, the Group may have to record an
expense in its consolidated statement of the Financial
Statements.

Deferred tax assets and tax payables (collectively
as the “Deferred and Income Tax”)

The deferred tax asset of HK$Nil as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 mainly represented a temporary
difference in relation to income tax loss under
Hong Kong Profits Tax. The income tax payables of
approximately HK$270.02 million as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 mainly represented income tax
payables of certain subsidiaries and funds under Hong
Kong Profits Tax.

In the event that the final assessment for the
abovementioned income tax payables from IRD
indicates that such income tax payables are
understated or overstated, the Group may have to
record more expenses or income subsequently.
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(lll) Management’s View, Position and Assessment on
the Qualification

70

(a)

(b)

Receivables

In relation to the recoverability of the balancing
amounts of the Receivables in the aggregate
amount of approximately HK$967.95 million, the
management of the Company has initiated actions
including but not limited to legal action against the
relevant borrowers and debtors and also conducted
debt restructuring. The Company believed that the
abovementioned balances can be collected in the
coming three years, therefore further provision for
impairment losses of the abovementioned balances
have been provided after having considered the
increasing risk of recoverability.

However, as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“(I) Reasons for the Qualification — Recoverability
of the Receivables” in this report, due to the lack of
the audit evidence of subsequent settlement(s) of the
abovementioned balances, the Auditor was unable to
ascertain the recoverability of the abovementioned
balances.

Other Payables

The management of the Company could not
provide sufficient supporting evidences to verify
some opening balances of the Other Payables in the
aggregate amount of approximately HK$19.04 million
shall be confirmed with the creditors to make further
supplemental agreements. As at the date of this
report, the Company is still liaising with the relevant
creditors.

The management of the Company had tried its best
endeavour but still could not fully identify all details
of the balancing amounts of the Other Payables,
therefore the management of the Company agreed to
the Auditor’s opinion.
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(c) Deferred and Income Tax

The Company has provided sufficient amounts of the
tax payables in the consolidated Financial Statements,
but the tax payables can only be confirmed by the
relevant tax authority after having reviewed and
assessed the submitted tax returns. Some subsidiaries
of the Company were still in the discussion of tax
assessment as offshore tax may be claimed. The
subsidiaries of the Company have submitted their tax
returns to IRD but have not yet received any final tax
assessment as at the date of this report.

The utilization of the Deferred Tax Assets has been
satisfied by our Auditor. While the Company is
pending the final tax assessment from IRD, the
amount of tax payables may be over-provided and
further adjusted. Thus, the management of the
Company agreed to the view of the Auditor.

(IV) Audit Committee’s View on the Qualification

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed to the
Qualification and does not have any disagreement
with the Board’s view. The Audit Committee had held
several meetings with the Auditor to discuss about the
Qualification and expressed their agreement with the
management of the Company about their position, view
and assessment during the meetings as stated in the
section headed “(lll) Management’s View, Position and
Assessment on the Qualification” above.
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(V) The Company’s Action Plans to Address the
Qualification

72

(a)

Receivables

In order to lower the investment risks and reduce
the losses, the Group had put all reasonable efforts
to maximise the recovery of the relevant financial
assistance by debt restructuring or conducting
lawsuits against several debtors. The Company will
keep on assessing and ascertaining the recoverability
of the aforesaid Receivables and further increase
the provisions for impairment loss for the coming
years to lower the amount of such items under the
Qualification.

In order to collect the outstanding Receivables,
the Group commenced legal proceedings against
four borrowers and the aggregate amounts of the
Receivables represented HK$425.97 million as at
31 December 2022. As at the date of this report,
all the legal actions are still on-going. Based on
the information currently available, the Directors
estimated that the litigations will be concluded more
than two years. In addition, the Group is also involved
in the debt restructurings process on three borrowers’
collaterals during the Year and the aggregate
amounts of the Receivables represented HK$215.33
million as at 31 December 2022.

As at the date of this report, no formal agreement
on debt restructuring was concluded due to the
continuing adverse impacts of the COVID-19
outbreak. The management of the Company is
still in the process of assessing and ascertaining
the recoverability of the Receivables. However,
further provisions for impairment or written off
of Receivables or commencement of the litigation
against the borrowers would be considered to recover
the Receivables in two years.
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(b) Other Payables

(c)

The management of the Company plans to seek
further clarification from the Company’s creditors and
continue to negotiate with them for reaching the
final settlement. The Company may further consult
with the appropriate advisors to assess whether those
uncertain payables and accruals should be written off.

As at the date of this report, the management of the
Company is still in the process of debt restructuring
on those uncertain Other Payables of approximately
HK$19.04 million and all the procedures are expected
to complete by the end of the year of 2023.

Deferred and Income Tax

Although the Group does not aware of the reason
leading to the delay in receiving the final assessment
from the IRD during the Year, the management of
the Company will proactively follow up with IRD to
provide the outstanding audit evidence to the Auditor
in order to remove the Qualification for the Tax
Payables and the Deferred Tax Assets.

Upon receipt of the final assessment of tax payables
from IRD, the appropriate adjustments will be
provided by the Company for the amount of tax
payables. It is expected that certain appropriate
adjustments will be made to lower the amount
of tax payables during the year of 2023, and the
Qualification will be removed accordingly.

As at the date of this report, the Group has not yet
received all final assessment of the tax payables from
IRD. Meanwhile, several subsidiaries of the Company
are in the process of engaging the tax experts to
obtain the tax opinion in relation to their tax payables
and have engaged two tax representatives to prepare
the tax returns for submission and consult with
IRD for determining the final assessment of the tax
payables in order to remove the qualification of the
Deferred and Income Tax.
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(VI) Expected Timetable to Remove of the Qualification

74

The management of the Company expects that the
Qualification for the Deferred and Income Tax will be
removed by next financial year of the Company (i.e. for the
year ending 31 December 2023) after taking into account
of the Company's action plan as stated in the section
headed “(V) The Company’s Action Plans to Address
the Qualification” above.

For the Qualification for the Other Payables, the
management of the Company believes that the qualified
amount can be removed following the settlement
agreements may be entered into with several creditors,
and the Qualification may be removed by the next financial
year of the Company (i.e. for the year ending 31 December
2023).

The Company expects that the Qualification for the
Receivables may be removed in stages within the coming
two years (i.e. by the year ending 31 December 2024)
after having taken into account of the development and
outcomes of the debt restructuring and lawsuits.

To improve the recoverability of the Receivables and lower
the credit risk of the Group, the management of the
Company is negotiating with the creditors to reach final
settlement by way of full settlement at the discounted
amount, settlement by installment basis and/or additional
collaterals. Having considered the details of the amount
of each Qualification, the management of the Company
considers that the Company’s action plan with certain
borrowers and creditors may result in different settlement
schedules, which will have impact on the expected time to
remove the relevant Qualification.

After having discussed with the Auditor, the management
of the Company understands and expects that all
Qualification may be removed by the year ending 31
December 2024 if the proposed action plans as disclosed in
the section headed “(V) The Company’s Action Plans to
Address the Qualification” above should have been fully
implemented whereas sufficient appropriate audit evidence
can be provided to the Auditor.
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PROSPECTS

The Group has been actively diversifying its business and will
continue to better utilise its available resources to develop
and upgrade the traditional manufacturing business in PCBs,
to maintain the treasury investments and financial services,
and to explore the scope of business for identifying new
investment and business development opportunities, including
but not limited to, the broad application of artificial intelligence
technology in telecommunications, the construction of
intelligent cities and financial technology.

The Group will actively take actions to recover the aforesaid
investments, including but not limited to initiate legal
proceedings, debt restructuring and disposal after evaluating
the cost and benefit of such actions, and explore the option of
ceasing the business of Financial Services and Offshore Private
Funds Management.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

There were no significant events occurred subsequent to 31
December 2022 which would materially affect the Group's
operating and financial performance as at the date of this
report.

* English translation or transliteration of Chinese name is for
identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEELRS

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are of the
opinion that during the Year, the Group has complied with the
“Corporate Governance Code” in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code"”) throughout the Year.

The Board is committed to the principles of transparency,
accountability and independence highlighted by the CG Code
to better enhance the value of the Shareholders and proper
management of corporate assets in the following ways:

1. ensuring the decision-making process, risk management
process, internal audit and controls, disclosure of
information and the communication with stakeholders are
carried out in accordance with good management practices
and compliance with the respective regulatory standards;

2. cultivating a culture of integrity, transparency and
accountability for the Company, its staff and the Directors
and emphasising the importance of their roles in such an
environment; and

3. adopting quality standards widely recognised to foster
quality management in every aspect of daily operations to
enhance the performance and value of the Company as a
whole.

Corporate Strategy

The primary objective of the Company is to enhance long-
term business return for Shareholders. To achieve this objective,
the Group's strategy is to place high emphasis on achieving
long-term financial performance and maintaining the Group's
strong financial profit. The
the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
annual report contain discussions and analyses of the Group's
performance and the basis on which the Group generates or
preserves value over the longer term, and the basis on which
the Group will execute its strategy for achieving the Group’s
objectives.

“Chairman’s Statement” and

sections in this
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Directors confirm that, during the Year, the Company acted
in compliance with the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
"MODEL CODE")

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct (the “Own
Dealing Code”) regarding securities transactions by Directors
on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in
the Model Code in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiries, confirms that
each member of the Board complied with the Own Dealing
Code throughout the Year. Members of the Company's
management, who, due to their positions in the Company, are
likely to be in possession of inside information, also complied
with the provisions of the Own Dealing Code.

The Own Dealing Code has been uploaded to the Company's
website.

GRANT OF WAIVER IN RELATION TO DELAY

IN DESPATCH OF 2021 ANNUAL REPORT AND
HOLDING OF 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
("LAST AGM")

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17
May 2022, on 16 May 2022, the Stock Exchange granted the
Company a waiver (the “R13.46(2)(a) Waiver”) from strict
compliance with the requirement under Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the
Listing Rules on the basis that the Company would despatch the
Company'’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021
(the “2021 Annual Report”) on or before 31 May 2022 and
disclose the R13.46(2)(a) Waiver by way of an announcement.
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31
May 2022, as additional time was required for the Company to
finalise and bulk-print the 2021 Annual Report upon completion
of the audit processes, the Company expected the date of
publication and despatch of the 2021 Annual Report would be
delayed to a date falling on or before 10 June 2022 and the last
AGM would be held on or before 15 July 2022.
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Accordingly, the Company had applied to the Stock Exchange
for (i) an extension of the R13.46(2)(a) Waiver; and (ii) a
waiver from strict compliance with the requirement under Rule
13.46(2)(b) of the Listing Rules. As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 2 June 2022, the Stock Exchange granted
the Company a waiver on 2 June 2022 (the “R13.46(2)(a)
and R13.46(2)(b) Waiver”) from strict compliance with the
requirements under (i) Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules on
the basis that the Company would dispatch the 2021 Annual
Report on or before 10 June 2022; and (ii) Rule 13.46(2)(b) of
the Listing Rules on the basis that the Company would hold the
last AGM on or before 15 July 2022, which was in compliance
with the New Bye Laws of the Company and the laws and
regulations in Bermuda. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 2 June 2022. The 2021 Annual
Report was finally despatched on 10 June 2022 and the last
AGM was held on 15 July 2022.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

With effect from 21 March 2022, Mr. Ng Man Kung (“Mr. Ng")
had tendered his resignation from the office as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman and member of the
remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and a member of each of the audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) of the Board respectively due to his
other business activities.

Following Mr. Ng's resignation, the Company failed to meet the
requirements of (i) Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules that the
Board must include at least three independent non-executive
Directors; (ii) Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules that the Audit
Committee must comprise a minimum of three non-executive
Directors; and (iii) Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules that the
Remuneration Committee must be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company's
announcement dated 21 March 2022.
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With effect from 21 July 2022,

(1)

Ms. Xing Mengwei has been appointed as an executive
Director, a member of the executive committee of the
Board (the "Executive Committee”) and an authorised
representative (the “Authorised Representative”) of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules;

Mr. Xu Xinwei has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee;

Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence, an independent non-executive
Director, has ceased to be an Authorised Representative;
and

Mr. Mak Kwok Kei, an independent non-executive Director,
has been re-designated (i) from the chairman of the
Nomination Committee to a member of the Nomination
Committee; and (ii) from a member of the Remuneration
Committee to the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

Upon the appointment of Mr. Xu Xinwei as an independent
non-executive Director and changes in the composition of the
Board committees,

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the Board comprises three independent non-executive
Directors in compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules;

the Audit Committee comprises three members who are
independent non-executive Directors in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and

the Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive Director in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 July 2022.
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With effect from 11 August 2022,

(1) Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin has been appointed as an executive
Director and the chairman of the Executive Committee; and

(2) Ms. Xing Mengwei, has been
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company.

an executive Director,

The Board further announced on 11 August 2022 that Mr. Liu
Tingan resigned as an advisor of the Company with effect from
31 August 2022 due to his other business activities.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 11 August 2022.

With effect from 17 February 2023, Mr. Li Yongjun has been
redesignated from a non-executive Director to an executive

Director and has remained as the chairman of the Board.

Further details of the above were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 February 2023.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board consisted of seven Directors, with a variety
and a balance of skills and experience in accounting, banking,
manufacturing, marketing, finance and investment professions.
Their biographical particulars are set out on pages 127 to
143 of this annual report. List of Directors and their role
and function, which sets out the members and composition
of the Board, has been uploaded on the Stock Exchange's
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s website
(www.renco.com.hk).

Members of the Board and their respective attendance to Board
meetings and general meetings held during the Year are as
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follows:
Number of Number of
attendance at attendance at
Board general
meetings meetings
EEggE REAEZ
Names of Directors EEfs HEE H =
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman) FXEXE (EE/’V
(redesignated from Non-executive Director to (R -—ZE_=Z#F _H++HHIFE
Executive Director on 17 February 2023) HITEZRFHPTESE) 12/12 1/1
Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer) BB L+ (7TEER)
(appointed as Executive Director WZEZZFtH-+—H
on 21 July 2022) (appointed as Chief BZEBHITESE)
Executive Officer on 11 August 2022) (R-EBE__FN\A+—HEZ
R ITE AR ) 6/6 /-
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung SR EKE 11/12 1/1
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin LEBRE WZFZZ4F
(appointed on 11 August 2022) N\B+—HEZ) 4/4 -/~
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRITEE
Mr. Ng Man Kung St (KZEZZF
(resigned on 21 March 2022) =H=+—HEF#E) 11 —/-
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence 2ERE 12/12 171
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei ZEELE 12/12 I7Al
Mr. Xu Xinwei BREBEEEE (WZFEZZF
(appointed on 21 July 2022) tHAZ+—HEZF) 6/6 -/~
The number of Board meetings held during the Year was 12. KEEBRIT+IREESGEH

The number of general meetings held during the Year was 1.
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During the Year, the Company had only complied with the
minimum requirement of three independent non-executive
directors (“INEDs"”) during the periods from 1 January 2022
to 20 March 2022 and since 21 July 2022 (details of non-
compliance of the Listing Rules and remedial steps taken had
been stated under the aforesaid section headed “Changes in
the composition of the Board and Board Committees”) forming
more than one-third of the Board, all of whom have accounting
and related financial management expertise. They are dedicated
to provide the Company with professional advice with respect
to the steady operation and development of the Company. They
also exercised supervision and coordination to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

Each INED for the Year had provided an annual confirmation
of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such annual confirmation received from
each of the INEDs, the Company considers that all INEDs are still
considered to be independent during the Year for their tenure
of office in the Company for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

All existing non-executive Director and INEDs have signed letters
of appointment with the Company for a term of not more
than three years, and will be subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
pursuant to the bye laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors and INEDs is
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and is fixed from
time to time by the Board subject to the authority granted
pursuant to the Bye-laws by the Shareholders at the Company's
general meetings.

As at the date of this report, the members of the Board are
Mr. Li Yongjun (chairman of the Board), Mr. Cheok Ho Fung,
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin and Ms. Xing Mengwei being executive
Directors; and Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence, Mr. Mak Kwok Kei and
Mr. Xu Xinwei being independent non-executive Directors.
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THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

One of the main responsibilities of the Board is to supervise
and direct the management of the Company to operate under
good corporate governance in order to maximise value of
the Shareholders while balancing the interest of its various
stakeholders. The Board holds meetings quarterly so as to
monitor the performance and discuss the business development
of the Company against the budget, to discuss and decide
on major corporate, strategic and operational issues, and to
evaluate any available investment opportunities.

The major duties performed by the Board are as follows:
1. setting the Company’s values and standards;

2. setting the objectives of the Company and responsibilities
of the Board and its various committees;

3. establishing the strategic direction for the Company;
4.  setting targets for the management of the Group;

5. monitoring the performance of the management of the
Group;

6. reviewing the annual and interim results of the Group;

7. ensuring that a framework of prudent and effective
internal control is in place to assess and manage the risk
of the Group and implementing appropriate systems to
manage these risks;

8. overseeing the Company’s relationships with its
Shareholders, customers, the community, various
government authorities, interest groups and others;

9. identifying and assessing any matters of substantial
Shareholder(s) or Director(s) resulting in conflict of interest;

10. determining material acquisitions and disposals of assets,
investments, capital, projects, authority levels, major
treasury policies, risk management policies and key human
resources issues; and
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11.

considering and determining issues which are the
responsibilities of the Board pursuant to the Company's
Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws and the
relevant laws and regulations in force by which the
Company is governed from time to time.

The Board is also responsible for the following corporate
governance duties:

to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
any amendment or updating (if any);

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and the Company’s
senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors;

to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Report”) under the CG Code; and

to be responsible for performing any other corporate
governance duties and functions set out in the CG Code
and the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time), or
delegating the responsibility to a committee or committees
(if applicable).

During the Year, the Company had reviewed its corporate
governance policy by the Board in achieving high standards of

corporate governance duties. The Board will further develop and
review this policy regularly and at least annually so as to make
recommendations on any amendment or updating (if any).
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During the Year, the Board had delegated its authority to the
Nomination Committee to review its board diversity policy
(the "Board Diversity Policy”) and nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) for the Company and the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee. The Board (via the
reporting from the Nomination Committee) had reviewed and
considered implementing the measurable objectives set for the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy during the Year and would,
together with the Nomination Committee, regularly review the
progress on implementing and achieving those objectives.

The Board has achieved the gender diversity and ceased to have
only male as the sole gender since 21 July 2022 by appointing
Ms. Xing Mengwei as executive Director on 21 July 2022. The
Board will endeavour to maintain the gender diversity across
all levels of the Group from time to time. Currently the Board
has one female executive Director among the total of seven
Directors. The Board will endeavour to continue and achieve
gender diversity when appointing potential successors to the
Board in future with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
and Nomination Policy but no specific targets or timelines to
further enhance gender diversity have been set for the time
being as it is of the view that all aspects of diversity should be
considered as a whole in the selection of suitable candidates for
appointment as members to the Board.

As of 31 December 2022, 52.5% and 47.5% of the Group’s
employees were male and female respectively. It indicated that
the Group had achieved the total gender diversity near to the
balance. Among the Group’s workers working in PCBs plant in
China (no staff being classified as workers in financial business
segment) as at 31 December 2022, 47.7% and 52.3% were
male and female workers respectively. Among the staff (non-
workers) of the Group working in Hong Kong and China for
PCBs business segment and financial business segment as at 31
December 2022, 66.7% and 33.3% were male and female staff
(non-workers) working in Hong Kong and China. It indicated
that more female workers were involving in PCBs manufacturing
process in China whereas more male staff (non-workers) were
working for PCBs non-manufacturing process and financial
business segment such as sale and marketing, office and
warehouse administration.

For further details on the diversity ratio of the Group’s
workforce including but not limited to gender and age, please
refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
page 307 of this annual report.

Corporate Governance Report

ﬁ%g/D$ED

REFE EXCERREFTETZIRLZE
EERNEFEMNEZTIERR ((ZTIER
R VRBBER (MRBHR) RMEREEEY
BELE -EFEE EBRRLEEEZER)
BERKREEFENFEERRSETRATNAESE

ERBITESFEZ TIEBER" ﬁtﬁ%?_ﬂ?%%;z
EEEMFERBTERZXSFERZEE-

E_E__FtBZT+—HEGMEBERLZL
ARTES EEFGERTHNZ - BZ
T _FtBA_+—HEEEZFLBRESR
MAEE—TER BEEERARENRIFILER
FrEMEBMR STt - BRES g tRESETH
E—RUMHTESZ EFZTRIBEEESTS
TTEBRRRABER THREEBETECTE
BN DR R EBIRMRIZ b BEBAII ]
UE—FTMAEMRZTIENAERBEEZHRRE
FOEUNESBNEEAZTAESTINE
B R ARRKZ Tt E hEIEAS —EERE
MLLE & o

BHE_ S-S+ _/FA=+—H x&EEHEE
THEBEMEMZEDFG52.5%M47.5% B &
HAEEER T HAOFHMNABMERNZ b
BE_Z-__F+_BA=t+—H &Xx&EE"E
qﬂl“xE%HJiIﬂrﬁIVEEﬁI/\EP(%mﬁ%%ﬁ
HREEIRHREATIAN) ' BUHEMEZET A
AME47. 7% M523% - HE_E - "F+_H
B AEETESERRER S ERSRME
BOEITENEANFTEET GETA) - E
ERMNTEIENBEEMNLZEET GETZAN) 2
B 266.7%H33.3% B REBS LM T AR
HATENERREEERE MREZEEHET
GETAN) RELRRRIFNEEERSRER
DEITE HW HEMMBEHE - WAEM
BEEE-

ﬁ%ﬁ$%§l%’vﬁ:1btt% (BEERRIME
BIMEE) NEZHE F2RAFREITE
E’J%ﬁ\ﬁ%&g/u%ﬁio

—ECEEFR MBEZEREERRAE 85



Corporate Governance Report
TEEARS

The Board will continue to consider gender diversity as
significant factor when making future appointments to the
members of the Board and the Group’s workforce. However,
the Board acknowledges that all other aspects of diversity
should also be considered as a whole in the selection of suitable
candidates for appointments to the suitable positions of the
Group. The Group welcomes increased female representation
at all different levels especially at the Board and management
levels in view of the current composition of the Board and
management. Being an equal opportunity employer, the Group
would consider not only gender factor but all other relevant
factors in making its decision on fitting the right person to the
right position in the Group.

The Board delegates to the management in respect of the major
corporate matters as stated below:

1. preparation of the annual and interim results of the Group
to be approved by the Board;

2 execution of the corporate strategies and directions of the
Group adopted by the Board;

3. implementation of sufficient systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures of the Group; and

4. carrying out daily business operations and decision-
makings of the Group, etc.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board
has established various committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. These committees are
governed by their respective terms of reference, which describe
the authorities and duties of these committees and will be
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. These committees
include the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, and the Executive Committee
whose terms of reference had been set out in writing, and if
statutorily required, have been uploaded to the websites of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.renco.com.hk) respectively.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. The Board was aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The Company's auditor, as mentioned in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, determined that
the Group incurred a consolidated net loss of approximately
HK$466,136,000 during the Year and had net current liabilities
of HK$348,021,000 as at 31 December 2022. In addition,
the Group had outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$901,409,000 which would be due for repayment within
the next twelve months and an amount due to a director
of approximately HK$111,137,000, which is repayable on
demand and bank balances and deposits of approximately
HK$46,943,000.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The Directors have adopted and
considered different measures in various dimensions to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position as disclosed in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the
Directors and the audit committee of the Company are of the
view that the Company has sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and financial obligations as it falls due and that it
is appropriate to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors referred
to the audit committee of the Company to enquire about the
basis to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis and discuss with the Company's auditors to
understand the reasoning for the view concerning the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, and consult
on whether there are any internal control deficiencies causing
such material uncertainty. The Directors note that the audit
committee of the Company did not disagree with the Board.
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The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 151 to 161 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is composed of three INEDs during the
periods from 1 January 2022 to 20 March 2022 and since 21
July 2022 (details of non-compliance of the Listing Rules and
remedial steps taken had been stated under the aforesaid
section headed “Changes in the composition of the Board and
Board Committees”).

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an INED who has
the appropriate professional qualifications and experience
in accounting or related financial management expertise as
required by the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee discharges
its responsibilities as follows and in accordance with its existing
terms of reference being adopted by the Board:

1. reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the interim and
annual results and financial statements of the Company
and of the Group and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements;

2. reviewing and monitoring the reporting, accounting and
financial policies and practices of the Group;

3. reviewing and primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, retirement, resignation or removal of
the Company's external auditor and reviewing their
remuneration and terms of engagement, discussing their
audit plan and scope of audit, and monitoring the external
auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process up to applicable standard, and also reporting
the issues raised by the external auditor, including but
not limited to those stated in their management letter
addressed to the Board, implementing policy on engaging
external auditor to supply non-audit services;

4. acting as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;
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5. reviewing the fairness and reasonableness of connected
transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) of the
Company, if any;

6. ensuring full access by the respective responsible teams
of the Group under corporate governance function of any
concerns that may have arisen during the course of their
corporate governance works;

7. conducting annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems
as delegated by the Board and considering any findings
of major investigation of its internal control and
risk management matters; and ensuring the Group’s
management has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control and risk management system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff from the Group; and

8. reviewing arrangements which can be used by employees
of the Company, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters, and the whistleblowing policy,
anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy and systems for
employees which has been adopted by the Board.

During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held
(whereas all of which had been held with the attendance of
the Company’s external auditor) to review the financial results
and reports for the year ended 31 December 2021 and for
the six months ended 30 June 2022,
internal control processes, related party transactions, continuing
connected transactions and discloseable transactions (if any),
roles and responsibilities as well as works performed by the
teams under corporate governance function, and the re-election
of the Company’s external auditor and audit fee.

risk management and

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
annual results and financial statements of the Group for
the Year, including the significant accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group.
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The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee RAXREE > ZBZEZETHENHEHZZ LR
at its meetings during the Year is set out below: wERESIWT -
Attendance
Members of Audit Committee BRZEEME RS
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (Chairman) RERE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Ng Man Kung St
(resigned on 21 March 2022) R —EZ—F=H —+—HEFF) —/-
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EEELE 3/3
Mr. Xu Xinwei REBREREE
(appointed on 21 July 2022) R-_EFE_—Ft+tH-+—HEZT) 1/1

Auditor's Remuneration

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the
appointment and re-election of the external auditor. During the
Year, the remunerations paid/payable to the external auditor,

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, were as follows:

% 24 M B <=
BZEZEQEEEZREENEEINBIZHAD
RAEFER  AEERIIBZBMPERES
SHENEHARABZNUTER !

Fee paid/
payable
Type of services provided by the external auditor  JMEEZ BET 1R it 2 AR 75 48 gt ENER
(HK$'000)
(F#&7T)
Audit services: ZER -

Audit of the financial statements for the year ended BERBE_Z_"F+HA=+—H
31 December 2022 IEFEEZFEMBRE 1,250
1,250
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the periods from 1 January 2022 to 20 March 2022
and since 21 July 2022, three members of the Remuneration
Committee were INEDs (details of non-compliance of the Listing
Rules and remedial steps taken had been stated under the
aforesaid section headed “Changes in the composition of the
Board and Board Committees”).

The Remuneration Committee performs the following roles
and functions in accordance with its terms of reference and its
written remuneration policy adopted by the Board:

1.

ensuring formal and transparent procedures for overseeing,
developing and determining policies on the remuneration
packages of Directors and the Company’s senior
management;

assessing the achievement and performance and reviewing
the performance-based remuneration of executive
Directors and the Company’s senior management by
reference to the Company’s corporate goals;

approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
agreements or letters of appointment (as appropriate);

providing effective supervision and administration of the
Company'’s share award or option schemes and other share
incentive schemes (if available);

(i) determining with delegated responsibility on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
the Company’s senior management or (ii) recommending
to the Board on executive Directors’ and the Company’s
senior management’s remuneration packages (whereas the
Remuneration Committee adopted this model (ii) during the
Year), and (iii) reviewing the remuneration of non-executive
Directors and INEDs; and

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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During the Year, four Remuneration Committee meetings RAEE ' FHMNEZEEGTERTOR » Ust
were held to discuss and review the remuneration packages &G HITEERHEMES (&%LE%%%TE
and bonus (if any) of executive Directors and other Directors ZHEZE) 2#HMFBKRTEA WE) «HIRF
(including proposed appointment of new Directors) and the WHEAZEEZHKH -BEEFHFMN A28 K
terms of their service agreements and letters of appointment, ZHAEBZHMER (BEZHNEETHEHE
the management’s remuneration and the remuneration & EM#RE) o
policy of the Company and the Group (with reference to the
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference and Listing
Rules).
The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration MWAXREE > ZHMEESTHENEESZZLEFE
Committee at its meeting for the Year is set out below: soExE A -
Attendance
Members of Remuneration Committee FMNEZEERE HE =
Mr. Ng Man Kung (Chairman) BXHIEE (FE)
(resigned on 21 March 2022) (R —EZ—HF=H —+—HEFF) —/-
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (Chairman) EEERE (F/F)
(appointed as Chairman on 21 July 2022) (R —E__—Ft+tH_+—HEZT
AERE) 4/4
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence FELE 4/4
Mr. Xu Xinwei (appointed on 21 July 2022) RBREE (WZE-C
tHAZ+—HEZE) 2/2

Regular review on the Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy is intended to provide a flexible set
of guidelines for the effective functioning of the Company’s
remuneration package. The Board and the Remuneration
Committee intend to review the Remuneration Policy at least
annually and anticipate that modifications may be necessary
from time to time as the Company’s needs and circumstances
evolve, and as applicable if and where the legal obligations or
any applicable statutory requirements change. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee had renewed the Remuneration
Policy.

During the Year,
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of Directors and the Company’s senior management. Details
of remuneration payable to the five highest paid individuals by

the Company has reviewed and made

band are disclosed in note 17 of the Note to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

92 Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2022

TE HA % 57 # M B 2R
HMBREER T AR MG R ZAREF
RH—EBINEESH -BEFTNFIMES
ﬂ%tfﬁéﬁﬁﬁ’:"\—)\’jﬂﬁ%%%ﬁ
RAIBKRMBERER UREEEEREIEE
EXRBEBUTEERRFZBER T FEETE
HoMRAEFEE FNEEEEERHMBR-

RAFE RABERESTAALTSHER
ABZHFHNEBEHRISIRNEETGRHE
FohtReTMATHEFBERETRS
RS ERRMIEE17 0



During the Year, the Board has reviewed the remuneration policy
of the Company (the “Remuneration Policy”) whereas the
details of which were set out below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Remuneration Policy is to set out the
principles by which the remuneration of the Directors and the
senior management of the Group are determined.

Remuneration of the Directors

The Directors, with the exception of the Chairman of the
Board, receive a fixed fee. The fee is determined from time to
time by the Board, and subject to review by the Remuneration
Committee pursuant to the power given by the Shareholders
under the Bye-laws, with reference to the contribution of the
Directors in terms of time, skills and expertise, the prevailing
market conditions and the remuneration benchmark in the
industry.

No Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee would review and approve
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct in consistent with their contractual
terms of employment and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.

Remuneration of executive Directors and Senior
Management

The executive Directors and senior management of the Group
are rewarded in line with the market rate and in compliance
with statutory requirements of all jurisdictions where the
Company operates.

Reference should be made by considering salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the group.

A significant proportion of executive Directors’ remuneration
should link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Directors may also be entitled to a bonus which depends
on both their own performance and the financial results of the
Group.
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The remuneration levels of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Group should be sufficient to attract and
retain Directors to run the Company successfully without paying
more than necessary and with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives.

Each of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Group should have executed contract of employment or letter
of employment with the Company, whereas any compensation
payable for any loss or termination of office or appointment
has been stated in employment contracts or letters whose
contractual terms are fair and not excessive.

Remuneration of Non-executive Directors

The remuneration of non-executive Directors should be
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board for
consideration.

Each of the non-executive Directors should have executed letter
of employment with the Company, whereas any compensation
payable for any loss or termination of office or appointment
should be stated in employment letters whose contractual terms
should be fair and not excessive.

Reference should be made by considering salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Share option scheme

The Company may establish and operate share option scheme
("“Scheme”) for the purposes of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants, including Directors and senior
management of the Group for their contribution to the
success of the Group's operations with the Scheme’s terms and
conditions being made reference to the requirements of the
Listing Rules, the Bye-laws, laws of Hong Kong or Bermuda
or other regulations (whichever applicable) at any time the
Directors think favourable to the Company for recommendation
to the Shareholders for adoption at any of the Company's
general meeting.
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Share award scheme

On 17 May 2016, the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”), which was not subject to the
then provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purposes of the share award scheme are (i) to provide those
eligible persons with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company; (ii) to encourage and retain such
individual to work with the Company; and (iii) to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance goals, with
a view to achieving the objectives of increasing the value of the
Company and aligning the interests of those eligible persons
directly to Shareholders through their ownership of shares in the
Company.

In order to reduce the operating cost and due to the changes of
the operating strategies of the Group, the Share Award Scheme
was terminated and cancelled on 27 March 2020. Further
details in relation to the termination of the Share Award Scheme
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 27 March
2020.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the periods from 1 January 2022 to 20 March 2022
and since 21 July 2022, three members of the Nomination
Committee were INEDs (details of non-compliance of the Listing
Rules and remedial steps taken had been stated under the
aforesaid section headed “Changes in the composition of the
Board and Board Committees”).

The Nomination Committee performs the following roles and
functions in accordance with its nomination procedures and
criteria as follows and in accordance with its terms of reference
and its written nomination policies adopted by the Board:

1. determining the policy for the nomination of Directors
during the Year;

2. adopting the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship during the Year by considering the candidates’
past performance and experience, academic and working
qualifications, general market conditions in accordance
with the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws so as to make the composition of the Board filled
with a diverse and a balance of skills and experience;
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3. reviewing regularly the roles of Directors and considering
any issue on conflict of interest, their performance and
conduct;

4. assessing the independence of INEDs pursuant to the
requirements set out in the Listing Rules; and

5. reviewing regularly the Nomination Policy and Board
Diversity Policy of the Company to ensure the effectiveness
of these policies and to review any progress on achieving
those objectives in these policies.

During the Year,
were held to discuss and review (i) the retiring Directors to
be re-elected at the 2022 annual general meeting of the
Company; (i) the independence of the INEDs; (iii) the terms
of appointment of Directors and proposed new Directors; (iv)
the structure, size and composition (including the gender,
skills, (v) the role,
performance and conduct of the existing Directors (including
but not limited to the issues on any conflict of interest); (vi)
any nomination of potential candidate in place of the resigned

three Nomination Committee meetings

knowledge and experience) of the Board,
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(appointed on 21 July 2022)
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei
(resigned as Chairman on 21 July 2022)
Mr. Ng Man Kung (resigned on 21 March 2022)

Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence
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Director(s) to the Board; and (vii) the Nomination Policy and Hu#E2EERENZEEEZENERE) °

Board Diversity Policy (including its measurable objectives and

progress on achieving those objectives) of the Company (with

reference to the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference

and Listing Rules).

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination WAHEE > ZELEEERENEETEZZHE

Committee at its meeting for the Year is set out below: soExE ST -

Attendance

Members of Nomination Committee REEEETWE HEE
Mr. Xu Xinwei (Chairman) REBREAE (FE)
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The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy to enhance its
effectiveness. The Nomination Policy is intended to provide a
flexible set of guidelines for the effective functioning of the
Company’s nomination process. The Board and the Nomination
Committee intend to review the Nomination Policy (together
with the Board Diversity Policy) at least annually and anticipate
that modifications may be necessary from time to time as the
Company’'s needs and circumstances evolve, and as applicable
if and where the legal obligations or requirements in the Listing
Rules or laws of Hong Kong or Bermuda or other regulations
change. The details of the Nomination Policy as at the date of
this report were set out below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to set out the process
by which candidates of possible inclusion in the Company's
recommended slate of director nominees are selected.
The Nomination Policy is administered by the Nomination
Committee.

Composition of the Board
The Nomination Committee will ensure that:

1. the Board will consist of Directors with a variety and
a balance of skills and experience in accounting,
manufacturing, marketing, finance, investment and legal
professions and with reference to the criteria and diversity
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the Listing Rules;

2. the Company should maintain the minimum number of
INEDs as required by the Listing Rules;

3. anew INED should be appointed if all INEDs on the Board
have served more than 9 years as long-serving INEDs;

4.  regular assessment will be conducted on the independence
of INEDs for the purpose of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
especially considering the independence of those long-
serving INEDs and if there is any reason for doubting
whether such INED is still considered as independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules or other regulations, it
may propose the re-designation of the INED into other
directorate position in the Board; and
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5. the Board should not consist of Directors with a
single gender and will endeavour to comply with the
requirements of the diversity of the Board from time to
time with effect from the date(s) stipulated by the Listing
Rules and with reference to the Board Diversity Policy of
the Company.

Nomination and selection criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account the
Company’s current requirements and the qualities required for
the Board’s services when the candidate is being considered for
election as Director, including but not limited to:

1. the ethical character, integrity and maturity of judgment of
the candidate;

2. the candidate’s experience at the policy-making level
in the industry and business, the PRC and Hong Kong
governments, education or other settings;

3. the candidate’s insight into material aspects of the
Company’s business;

4. the expertise of the candidate in areas that are useful to
the Company and complementary to the background and
experience of other Board members;

5. the candidate’s willingness to take an active interest in the
Company’s affairs and obtain a general understanding of
its business, and to devote the required amount of time
to carrying out the duties and responsibilities of the Board
and various committees’ membership if being invited,;

6. the candidate’s willingness to report to the Board in a
timely manner any new change in his/her office held
in other public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments, the time involved, identities of
such public companies and organisations;

7.  the willingness of the candidate to serve on the Board for
multiple terms;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

the willingness of the candidate to refrain from engaging
in activities that may be in conflict with the Director’s
duties and responsibilities to the Company and its
Shareholders;

the candidate’s independence under the Listing Rules,
especially if he/she is appointed as INED, and if the
proposed INED will be holding his/her seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, the reasons why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board, his/her perspectives, skills and
experience that he/she can bring to the Board and how the
proposed INED contributes to diversity of the Board;

the candidate’s service on other boards of directors of the
Group or of other companies (whether they are listed or
non-listed);

the candidate’s willingness to participate in continuous
professional development courses annually to be arranged
and funded by the Company;

the candidate’s willingness to attend general meetings of
the Company;

the candidate’s obligation to disclose his/her information
on all civil judgments of fraud, breach of duty, or other
misconduct involving dishonesty (if any);

the candidate’s willingness to comply with the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements in full for discharging
Directors’ liabilities; and

whether the candidate as Director can achieve the diversity
of the Board as set out in the Listing Rules from time to
time.

10.

1.

12.

13.

14.
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For those potential new director candidates who appear upon
first consideration to meet the Board’s selection criteria, the
Nomination Committee will conduct appropriate inquiries into
their background and qualifications and, depending on the
result of such inquiries, arrange for in-person meeting with the
potential candidates.

In the case of incumbent Directors whose terms of office are set
to expire, the Nomination Committee will review such Directors’
overall service to the Company during their terms of office in
the Company, and if feasible and appropriate, will conduct an
exit interview.

The Nomination Committee may use multiple sources for
identifying potential new director candidates, including but not
limited to:

1. its own contacts and referrals from other Directors,
members of the management of the Company, the
Company's professional advisors, and executive search
firms;

2. the potential new director candidates being recommended
by the Shareholders with the evaluation in the
same manner with other director candidates being
recommended by other sources; and

3. making recommendations for potential new director
candidates to be proposed to the Board for election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
The Nomination Committee will consider any written
recommendation of potential new director candidates
pursuant to Bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws. Recommendations
must include the candidate’s name, contact information
and a statement of the candidate’s background and
qualifications, and must be mailed to the head office of
the Company for the attention of the chairman of the
Board/Company Secretary. For details, please refer to
the Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director.
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The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to enhance
its effectiveness. In designing the Board's composition, the
Board Diversity Policy has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of
services and time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will
consider all measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and also take into account factors relating to its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Board strives to ensure that it has the appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are required
to support the execution of its business strategies and in order
for the Board to be effective. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board. The details of the Board Diversity Policy were set
out below:

1. Purpose
1.1 The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
diversity on the Board.

2. Scope of Application
2.1 The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance.
2.2 The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board and
does not apply to diversity in relation to employees of
the Group.

3. Board Diversity Policy Statement
3.1 In designing the Board’s composition, the Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
Board members.

3.2 Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
regional and industry experience, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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4,

5.

102

3.3

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses
the composition of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of the Board’s diversity.

Measurable Objectives

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy and achieving the Board’s
diversity and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

Selection of candidates for Board members will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, regional and
industry experience, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, as well as the
criterion set out in the Company’s Nomination Policy.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

The Board’s composition (including gender, ethnicity,
age, length of service, educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge) will
be disclosed in the Company’s CG Report annually
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

Monitoring and Reporting

5.1

The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the CG Report, on the Board’s composition
under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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6. Review of the Board Diversity Policy
6.1 The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy regularly, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and to
review any progress on achieving those objectives in
the Board Diversity Policy.
6.2 The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such

revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Under the CG Code provision B.2.2, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Bye-
laws has provided that at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years.

The Bye-laws has provided that the Board shall have power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any
Director so appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election, but shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at such meeting.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee operates with overall delegated
authority from the Board. The Executive Committee carries out
the following tasks for the purposes of dealing with the affairs
relating to the day-to-day operations of the Group:

1. determining group strategies;

2. setting targets for the management;
3. reviewing business performance;

4.  ensuring adequate funding; and

5. examining major investments.

During the Year, the members of the Executive Committee
are Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (Chairman) (executive Director)
(appointed on 11 August 2022) and Ms. Xing Mengwei
(executive Director) (appointed on 21 July 2022).

During the Year, one Executive Committee meeting had been
held.

The Company had established mechanism(s) to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
disclosed details of such mechanism(s) below in this report. The
Board would or might designate a Board Committee, to review
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on
an annual basis.

Purpose
These mechanisms are to ensure that independent views and
input are available to the Board.
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Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board will try its best to have a balanced composition
of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and INEDs
for providing strong independence elements in the Board.

The Board will also endeavour to ensure the appointment
of at least three INEDs and at least one-third of the
members of the Board being INEDs (or such higher
threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from time
to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed
by the Listing Rules as to the composition of certain
Board committees, INEDs will be appointed to other Board
committees as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available.

Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere to its
terms of reference, the Company’s nomination policy
and the independence assessment criteria as set out
in the Listing Rules with regard to the requirements of
nomination and appointment of INEDs.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may materially affect his/her
independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess
annually the independence of all INEDs by reference to
the independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement.

B
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Board Decision Making

106

Any Director concerned should declare the nature and
extent of interest at or prior to the meeting of the Board
or Committee in question and consider withdrawal from
the meeting when the concerned said matter is discussed.
Directors concerned who attend the meeting of the Board
or committee must abstain from voting on any resolution
(including but not limited to his/her remuneration package
or other matters concerned with personal interest) and will
not be counted in the quorum, subject to the Listing Rules
and the Company’s bye-laws.

INEDs (as other Directors) shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any Board or committee resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material
interest, subject to the Listing Rules and the Company’s
bye-laws.

Each Director who attends any meeting of the Board or
committee will be given the opportunity and sufficient
time to express independent view and input and to ask
questions on the matters being discussed thereat.

INEDs (including other Directors) are entitled to seek
further information and documentation from the
Company’s management on the matters to be discussed at
any meeting of the Board or committee.

All INEDs (including other Directors) are invited to share
their views and opinions through any meeting of the
Board or committee with heads of core departments and
particular business units of the Company being invited to
join such meetings on Directors’ requests.

Independent professional advice would be provided by the
Company to INEDs and other Directors upon reasonable
request or alternatively, Directors can seek independent
professional advice with the relevant fee being reimbursed
by the Company if and when it is reasonable and necessary
to assist them for performing their duties as Directors.
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e At least one annual meeting shall be held between the
chairman of the Board and all INEDs without presence of
other Directors so as to provide an effective platform for
the Chairman to listen independent views and input on
various issues concerning the Company.

Compensation

o Any equity-based remuneration (such as share option or
share award scheme) with performance related elements
will not be recommended to be granted to INEDs as this
may lead to bias in their decision making and compromise
their objectivity and independence.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Group provides briefings, reading materials and other
training opportunities to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills so as to keep them abreast of their
collective responsibilities and to put more emphasis on the
importance of roles, functions and duties of Directors.

The Group continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices, and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.
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During the Year and as required by and in compliance with the RAFEE BECETHZRE EEE2 4
CG Code, the Directors participated in the following trainings: PUR B3

Types of Training

Name of Directors BEENA EEgE R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman) TxERE (_—‘Eﬁ)

(redesignated from Non-executive Director R-_EB-—=—FE_A++H
to Executive Director on 17 february 2023) i iE# /7 & BB LT
EZ)
Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer) MEBT LT (f7HAE%)
(appointed as Executive Director on 21 July (R—ZFE— 4
2022)(appointed as Chief Executive Officer A=+ —FESES

on 11 August 2022) HITEE) (W E- L
/U€7+ HEZEZITE
B%)
Mr. Cheok Ho Fung 2aELE
Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin LR E
(appointed on 11 August 2022) (HR—E-_—&F/NNF+—H
EBZ(E)
Independent Non-executive BUIFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Ng Man Kung SXHEE (RZFEZZF
(resigned on 21 March 2022) = A -+—HEHT)
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence fERE
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei EEELE

Mr. Xu Xinwei (@appointed on 21 July 2022) BEBLE (R -_ZE_-—F
tH-+—HEZT)

A:  attending seminars/conferences/forums (via different means) Al

B: giving talks at seminars/conferences/forums B:
C:  self-reading: (newspapers, journals and updates on: global and C:

Hong Kong economy, business of the Group, updates on Listing
Rules, directors’ duties, relevant statutory requirements)
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a whistleblowing policy which deals
with and governs proper and fair concerns raised by the Group’s
employees about any suspected malpractice or misconduct
regarding financial reporting, internal control or other matters
within the Group. The Audit Committee shall review regularly
this policy and ensure that arrangements are in place for
independent and fair investigation of these matters and for
appropriate following-up action. During the Year, the Audit
Committee had reviewed the whistleblowing policy.

The responsible teams of different sections or departments
within the Group under corporate governance function play a
major role in monitoring the internal corporate governance of
the Group. They have unrestricted access to the information
that allow them to review all aspects of the Group’s risk
management and governance processes in connection with
nature of compliance and legal requirements. It also has the
power to consult directly with the Audit Committee without the
consent of the Company’s management.

During the Year, the Group has complied with the CG Code
by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board oversees management in performing its duties on
an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its businesses and operations. The
system comprises the following phases:

e [dentification: ldentify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

Based on the enterprise risk assessments conducted in 2022, no
significant risk was identified which might materially affect the
Group's businesses and operations except the adverse impacts of
the COVID-19 outbreak.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensuring that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures for the Group’s directors, officers and all relevant
employees. The term “relevant employee” refers to employee
of the Group, who, because of his office or employment, is
likely to be in possession of the unpublished inside information.
The above-mentioned persons are also recommended to
make reference to the
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in
June 2012. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from

“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside

time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which
include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

o Internal controls on handling and dissemination of inside
information are in place.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2022, no
significant control deficiency which might affect the reliability
and effectiveness of the Group's internal controls was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an internal audit (“IA") function, which consists
of professional staff with relevant expertise performed by a
professional firm. The IA function is independent from the
Group's daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.
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An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group is conducted annually and the
results are reported to the Board through the Audit Committee.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensures that review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board's review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of different levels of risks since the last annual
review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (ii) the scope and
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and the Audit Committee during the Year, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It
is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

OPERATION RISKS

The Group has implemented appropriate policies and procedures
for all major operations. The management closely monitors
the procurement process and performs due diligence check on
suppliers. The quality assurance department and the reliability
department ensure the stability of the manufacturing process
and monitor products quality. The Group also strives to promote
human resources reforms and comprehensively enhances cost
management. At the same time, the management also keeps
a close eye on every investment process to ensure that they
have exercised due care towards those investments made. By
establishing clear policies and a well-documented business
process, the exposure to operation risks is considered as minimal
by the Group.

112 Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2022

EFCTEMERNELTE - RIETRAE
REHAEERBEERANBPEZERRET
B hEGREREBEREZEGERTSE
Ego

R EERASBEERFIARE

EFCEEAEENAREERANEAEER
MoOULERESFHZSFRAFANBERNEETSE
Z-BEFEEREEZRETHE SEERR
ROB L —REEEZRETEREERBNMEE
REENEE hAEERBHHEFRINR
BEHNED ; k(NEEBFERZEKRNE
EhEERANEBEZERGNEEREE

REEE EFTEBHBERAN
REZZEEFHNEZSHER RAREE

RABEERFBBE WK ESN %ﬁ B &
METEEMFERREEREFERNE
B HEMAEEEARRERMLABRIFLSG
EMFENRE-BR - BETIEERERET
EERTRIETR D BRIt I RPREHMIEE T
Fo

‘B%V ThAs

= E A b
AEECHFAIEEEEHETEEZK

REEF BEEEEZVERRBEESF  LHMH
EHETERPAE mEREHFIRERTRE
MEPIERREEREZEBEEREFNERZ
B-AEBTRNREANERIEREZEH
RANRAEE -FAR EEETEYERER
BiERE UERRSERNEBEMFLERSE -

ﬁLﬁi%Wﬂ%&géﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg’$$
B30 A= i R B Al i o



INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
and other stakeholders and encouraging them to communicate
actively with the Company. This policy sets out the principles
of the Company, in relation to shareholders’ communications,
with the objective of ensuring that its communications with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders (including potential
investors) with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company (including
its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable
the Shareholders and other stakeholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner mainly through the Company’s
corporate communications (such as interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, notices of meetings, proxy
forms and listing documents), annual general meetings and
other general meetings, as well as disclosure on the website
of the Company. The Board has conducted a review of the
shareholders communication policy for the Year and was
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

Interim reports, annual reports and circulars and associated
explanatory documents etc are sent to the Shareholders and are
also posted on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkex.com.
hk) and the Company’s website (www.renco.com.hk) under a
dedicated “Investor Relations” section in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in
single language, and will be updated on a regular basis and in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules so as to facilitate
the Shareholders’ understanding. The Company's website
provides the Shareholders with the corporate information, such
as principal business activities, the development of corporate
governance and the corporate social responsibilities of the
Group such as environmental protection, etc.
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Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, fax number, email address and postal
address (as indicated below), in order to enable them or even
the Board to make any enquiry that they may have with respect
to the Company or the Group. In addition, if the registered
Shareholders have any enquiries about their shareholdings
and entitlements to dividend, they can contact Tricor Tengis
Limited, the Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office, through the online holding enquiry service at
www.tricoris.com or by email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.
com or hotline at (852) 2980 1333 or fax at (852) 2810 8185
or in person at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. However, Shareholders may send their enquiries to
the following contacts:

Principal place of
business in Hong

: Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89
Queensway, Hong Kong

Kong
For the attention of Chairman of the
Board/Company Secretary
Telephone : (852) 2710 2323
Fax : (852) 2323 8137
Email . investor.relations@renco.com.hk

The Company’s general meetings allow the Directors, members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee respectively, and its external
auditor to meet and communicate with its Shareholders and
to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company will ensure
that the Shareholders’ views can be properly communicated to
the Board. For each substantially separate issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution should be proposed by the
chairman of that meeting, for instances, nomination of persons
as Directors by means of a separate resolution. The Procedures
for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director
of the Company has been uploaded on the website of the
Company.
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The proceedings of general meetings are reviewed from time
to time to ensure that the Company follows good corporate
governance practices. An annual general meeting shall be called
by not less than twenty clear business days’ notice and twenty-
one clear days' notice in writing at the least. All other general
meetings (including a special general meeting) shall be called by
ten clear business days’ notice and fourteen clear days' notice
in writing at the least (whereas the notice shall be exclusive of
the day on which it is given or deemed to be given and of the
day for which it is given), and the accompanying circular also
sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant
information as required under the Listing Rules.

The chairman of the general meetings exercises his power
under the Bye-laws to put each proposed resolution to the vote
by way of a poll, save for the resolutions (if any) proposed by
the chairman of the meeting regarding the approval on the
procedural or administrative matters as defined in the Listing
Rules. The procedures for demanding and conducting a poll are
explained at the general meetings prior to the polls being taken.
Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at a general
meeting are entitled to ask about the poll voting procedures
and details of the proposed resolutions at the general meeting
whose questions should be answered during the general
meeting prior to the conduction of poll voting. Announcement
on poll voting results of general meeting will be posted on the
Stock Exchange'’s website and the Company's website.

The Company continues to commit to a proactive policy of
promoting investor relations and effective communication with
the Shareholders and analysts by better utilising the Company's
website (www.renco.com.hk) as a channel to disclose the
Company’s updated information and corporate communications
to the Shareholders, stakeholders and the public on a timely
basis.
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Shareholders Rights

Convening a special general meeting by Shareholders

The Directors, pursuant to Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) (“Companies Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws shall, on the requisition of the Shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the provisions of section 74(3) of the
Companies Act.

The requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
Company'’s registered office and the principal place of business
in Hong Kong, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Pursuant to section 74(3) of the Companies Act, if the Directors
do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene a general meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene
a general meeting, but any general meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the said
date.

A general meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be

convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which general meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders
or not less than 100 Shareholders, may make a requisition in
writing to the Company to do the following (which will be
done at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves):

(i) to give the Shareholders a notice of the next annual
general meeting and notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and/or

(i) to circulate to the Shareholders a notice of any general

meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one

thousand (1,000) words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

A copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or
two or more copies which contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office and
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company in
the following manner:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution,
not less than six weeks before the meeting; and

(ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week

before the meeting,

and there must be deposited or tendered with the requisition a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company's expenses in
giving effect thereto.

However please note that if, after a copy of the requisition
requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or
less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not
deposited within the time limit stated above shall be deemed to
have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a general
meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company via email at the email
address of the Company at investor.relations@renco.com.hk, or
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong
Kong, specifying his/her/its shareholding information, his/her/
its contact details and the proposal (the “Proposal”) he/she/
it intends to put forward at the general meeting regarding any
specified transaction/business with supporting documents.

The identity of the Shareholder and his/her/its request will be
verified with the Company's branch share register in Hong Kong
and upon confirmation by the branch share registrar that the
request is proper and in order and made by a Shareholder, the
Board will determine in its sole discretion whether the Proposal
may be included in the agenda for the general meeting to be set
out in the notice of meeting.

Putting forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Unit 2707, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board of
Directors/Company Secretary.

Company Secretary

Mr. Su Zhiyang is the company secretary of the Company. He
is responsible for ensuring a good information flow within the
Board and the compliance of the board policy and procedures.

During the Year, Mr. Su has confirmed that he has duly complied
with the relevant requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders to be the goal. The dividend policy aims
at enhancing transparency of the Company and facilitating
the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company.
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According to the dividend policy, while the Company intends to
declare and pay dividends in the future, the payment and the
amount of any dividends will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to:

(i)  the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(i)  the Group's expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iii) profits available for distribution, retained earnings and

distributable reserves of the Company and each of the

members of the Group;

(iv) the Group’s liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate and

relevant.

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends
in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The recommendation of the
dividends by the Company shall be determined at the sole
discretion of the Board and shall be subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act and every other Act of Bermuda,
the Bye-laws and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Any declaration of annual dividend for the financial year
ended of the Company will be subject to the approval by the
Shareholders. The dividend policy adopted by the Board is
intended for the Company to maintain adequate cash reserves
to meet its capital requirements, fund its future growth and
enhance shareholder value when dividends are recommended.

The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for any
given period.

30 March 2023
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFOHRS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the Year.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year by
geographical location are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion on the Group's business review, and operating
and financial performance during the Year and a discussion
on the Group’'s future business development as well as the
Group’s financial key performance indicators are included in the
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to 8 and the “"Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 75 of this annual report.

Particulars on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, and key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and others were set out in the ESG Report on pages
307 to 348 of this annual report. All these disclosures form part
of the contents of the Report of the Directors.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is now operating in a highly competitive business
in particular, the manufacturing
segment. Manufacturing segment is greatly affected by its

and economic environment,

customers which are highly volatile combined with rising labour
and production costs. The Group’s manufacturing segment
has to compete with its competitors on various factors such
as product variety, product performance, customer service,
quality, pricing, new product innovation, timely delivery and
brand recognition. On the other hand, volatility in Hong Kong
securities market may affect the Group’s performance on listed
securities investments resulting in fluctuations in unrealised fair
value gains or losses. Rising in interest rate is highly likely and
this will affect not only the Group’s costs of borrowings but
also costs of purchases on materials. In addition to risks and
uncertainties mentioned above, the Group is also subject to
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising from the normal
course of the Group's business and further details of which are
set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Companies Act in Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules, and laws and
regulations implemented by relevant jurisdictions. The Company
believes the existing laws and regulations do not have any
significant effect on the Group's activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 162 to 166.

The Board has resolved not to recommend any declaration of
dividend payment for the Year (2021: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 306. This summary does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s issued share capital for
the Year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders though there are no
restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 21 June 2023 to Monday, 26 June 2023, both
days inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 26 June 2023, share transfer forms accompanied by
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 June 2023.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act, the contributed surplus
of the Company is available for distribution or payment of
dividends to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following such distribution or payment, the Company is able to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves include
share premium of approximately HK$2,556,868,000 (2021:
HK$2,559,569,000) which may be available for dividend
distribution upon the passing of special resolution by the
Shareholders at the general meeting to reduce the share
premium amount and transfer it to contributed surplus after
offsetting with the accumulated losses of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the revenue from the largest and the five largest
customers amounted to approximately 15% (2021: 11%) and
47% (2021: 43%) of the Group’s revenue respectively.

For the Year, the purchase of materials from the largest and the
five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 13% (2021:
10%) and approximately 49% (2021: 41%) of the Group's total
purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) has any interest in any of the five largest customers
and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary, for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the financial affairs of the Group.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and financial
obligations as and when they fall due, and accordingly, are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis after taking into
consideration of the followings:

(i)  enhancing the collection of loan and note receivables by
monitoring repayments when they fall due;
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(ii)

(iii)

a substantial shareholder, through related companies of
which are also owned by this substantial shareholder, has
undertaken to provide continuing financial support to the
Group to remain continuing operations and to meet its
liabilities and obligations when they fall due;

the Group will actively negotiate with the lenders for
debts restructuring and the renewal of the Group's
borrowings when they fall due in order to secure necessary
funds to meet the Group's working capital and financial
requirements in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the Directors, the Group will be able to roll over or
refinance the borrowings upon their maturity;

identifying new investment and business development
opportunities to increase the Group’s profitability; and

the Group is actively exploring the availability of various
sources of financing including the disposal of assets or
obtain secured facilities by way of pledge of assets.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public
float of 25% as required by the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of
their holdings of such securities.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Tenancy Agreement

On 29 May 2020, Topsearch Printed Circuits (HK) Limited
("Topsearch PC (HK)”) as a tenant (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company), entered into a renewed
tenancy agreement (the “"Renewed Tenancy Agreement”)
with Keentop Investment Limited as a landlord (an investment
holding company and a connected person of the Company as
defined under the Listing Rules, which is beneficially owned as
to 50% by each of Mr. Cheok Ho Fung, an executive Director
and his spouse, Mrs. Cheok Chu Wai Min) in respect of the
lease of the properties known as House 7 and the Garden
appurtenant thereto and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 7A and 7B on
Basement Floor, Las Pinadas, No. 33 Shouson Hill Road, Hong
Kong for a lease term of three years commencing from 1 June
2020 to 31 May 2023 (both days inclusive) as director’s quarters
provided to Mr. Cheok and his family.

Keentop Investment Limited charged Topsearch PC (HK) a
monthly rental of HK$165,000 (exclusive of rates, management
fee and other outgoings) and a monthly management fee
of HK$18,000. The annual cap under the Renewal Tenancy
Agreement is HK$2,350,000. The terms of the Renewed Tenancy
Agreement have been negotiated on an arm’s length basis and
are considered as fair and reasonable and on normal commercial
terms and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. The Renewed Tenancy Agreement constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company but is exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

In respect of the Renewed Tenancy Agreement which constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company, the INEDs have
reviewed the said transaction and confirmed that the said
transaction has been entered into:

(1) after arm’s length negotiation and for the purpose of and
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms; and
according to the Renewed Tenancy Agreement governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yongjun (Chairman)
(redesignated from Non-executive Director to
Executive Director on 17 February 2023)

Ms. Xing Mengwei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Executive Director
on 21 July 2022)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 11 August 2022)

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung

Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (appointed on 11 August 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Man Kung (resigned on 21 March 2022)
Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence
Mr. Mak Kwok Kei
Mr. Xu Xinwei

(appointed on 21 July 2022)

In accordance with the Listing Rules and Bye-law 84 of the Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three
(3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and Bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-
laws, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorization by the
Shareholders in general meeting, as an addition to the existing
Board but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall
not exceed any maximum number determined from time to time
by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of Shareholders after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Cheok Ho Fung
(an executive Director) and Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (an independent
non-executive Director) shall retire from office by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 83(2), Ms. Xing Mengwei and Mr. Hung
Yeung Alvin (executive Directors) and Mr. Xu Xinwei (an
independent non-executive Director) shall retire from office by
rotation at the Annual General Meeting.

All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has any
service contract with the Company in respect of any unexpired
period which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yongjun (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 54, was a non-executive Director of the Board and
was appointed as Chairman of the Board with effect from 6
April 2020. He joined the Group on 30 August 2019 and has
been redesignated from non-executive Director to executive
Director on 17 February 2023.

Mr. Li is primarily responsible for leading the Board, ensuring the
effective operation of our Board and providing business strategy
and management advice to our Board.
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Mr. Li has over 20 years’ working experience in enterprise
strategic decision making and corporate management. He is
currently the president of Yongxinhua Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Yongxinhua Holding").
Mr. Li founded the Yongxinhua Holding in 2003, which is an
integrated and multipurpose corporation and a co-partner of
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO) in the world intangible cultural heritage industry.
Its principal activities include equity investment in financial
institutions, cultural industry integration and innovation
development, development and construction of cultural industry
park and protection of intangible cultural heritage. From
May 2018 to October 2022, Mr. Li has served as an executive
director and vice chairman of the board of directors of Crown
International Corporation Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 727). Mr. Li was
the chief executive officer of Crown International Corporation
Limited from July 2018 to March 2019.

Mr. Li is also the Asia chairman of the Global Hope Coalition,
the vice chairman of the “Belt and Road” Silk Road Planning
Researching Center, the vice chairman of the China Industry
University Research Collaboration Association and the vice
chairman of the China Intangible Cultural Heritage Protection
Association.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
in the PRC in September 2008. He obtained a qualification
certificate as a senior engineer in the PRC in July 2001.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li has beneficial ownership
interest in 624,960,000 shares, representing approximately
23.60% of the total number of issued shares of the Company
(the “Shares”). Mr. Li is the sole beneficial owner of the
entire issued share capital of Eternal Glory Holdings Limited
("Eternal Glory"”), a substantial shareholder of the Company
(the “"Shareholder(s)”), and is deemed to be interested in the
624,960,000 Shares, representing approximately 23.60% of
the total number of issued Shares, held by Eternal Glory under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571 of the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Details of Mr. Li’s interest or deemed
interest and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2022
have been disclosed in this annual report on page 146 under the
section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares” of the Report of the Directors.
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Mr. Li has entered into a new service contract with the
Company, to replace the previous service contract with the
Company, for a term of three years with effect from 17 February
2023, which is renewable pursuant to the new service contract
for successive term of three years on the same terms and
conditions, unless it is terminable by either party by giving to
the other three month’s prior notice in writing. He is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the
Company. His remuneration was approved by the Board subject
to the authority granted by the Shareholders to authorize the
Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the annual general
meeting of the Company with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing market
situation and shall be reviewed by the remuneration committee
of the Company from time to time. Under the previous services
contract with the Company, Mr. Li was a non-executive Director
and entitled to receive an annual remuneration of HK$600,000
for the year. Under the new service contract, Mr. Li is entitled to
receive director’'s emoluments of HK$2,400,000 per annum and
discretionary bonus which would be determined by reference to
various factors such as duties and responsibilities of Mr. Li and
the Group’s performance for the relevant financial year.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he has
not held any other directorships in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an executive Director, (a non-
executive Director since 30 August 2019 and the chairman
of the Board since 6 April 2020), Mr. Li does not have any
relationships with any other Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li does not have any
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which are discloseable under Part XV of
the SFO and there are no matters concerning Mr. Li that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Ms. Xing Mengwei (“Ms. Xing”)

Ms. Xing, aged 33, joined the Group as an executive Director,
a member of the Executive Committee and an Authorised
Representative, all with effect from 21 July 2022. Ms. Xing
has also been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from 11 August 2022. Ms. Xing acts as
a key management personnel of the Company and director of
many subsidiaries and some associated companies of the Group.

Ms. Xing obtained a bachelor degree in Information Engineering
from Beifang University of Nationalities* (1675 R HEAKE2)
in China in July 2013 and a degree of Master of Science in
Business Information Systems from City University of Hong Kong
in July 2014.

Ms. Xing joined the Group in May 2022. She is currently a
director and responsible officer of Renco Investments Limited
(associated company of the Company), a company principally
engaged in Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “"SFO").
experience in asset and investment management. From July
2014 to May 2018, Ms. Xing was an assistant vice president
of IPS Strategic Management Limited, a company principally
engaged in the business of investment, where she was mainly
responsible for coordination and execution of private equity
investment projects, immigration business and overseas business
consultation. During May 2018 to April 2022, Ms. Xing was the
chief investment officer of N Plus Capital Limited, a company
principally engaged in Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO, and
then a director and a responsible officer of Yee Tai Capital
Limited, a company principally engaged in Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the SFO, where she accumulated experience in investment
management, managing investment projects and providing
investment advice. Since June 2021, Ms. Xing has been an
independent non-executive director of Huaibei GreenGold
Industry Investment Co., Ltd.* (EIb&xEEERERMDEBERA
@]), a company principally engaged in sand and gravel business,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 2450).

Ms. Xing has over nine years’ working
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Ms. Xing is licensed under the SFO as a responsible officer
to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. She is also
a Certified Financial Consultant of The Institute of Financial
Consultants.

Ms. Xing had entered into a service agreement as an executive
Director with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 21 July 2022, which is renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years each on
the same terms and conditions, unless it may be terminated
by either party by giving to the other three months’ prior
notice in writing. Pursuant to the service agreement, Ms. Xing
was entitled to an annual remuneration of approximately
HK$642,580 for the Year which has been increased to
HK$1,584,000 per annum effective on 1 February 2023 by the
Board’s approval, which is subject to re-election at the first
general meeting of the Shareholders after appointment and
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of
the Company. The Director’s emolument to which Ms. Xing is
entitled is determined and approved by the Board subject to the
authority granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to
fix the Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation
by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Xing has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
she has not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company and authorized
representative, Ms. Xing does not have any relationships
with any other Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save
as disclosed above, Ms. Xing does not have any other interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which are discloseable under Part XV of the SFO
and there are no matters concerning Ms. Xing that that need
to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Hung Yeung Alvin (“Mr. Hung”)

Mr. Hung, aged 43, has been appointed as an executive Director
and the chairman of the Executive Committee, both with effect
from 11 August 2022.

Mr. Hung has obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from
McMaster University in Canada in November 2004 and a
master's degree in Business Administration from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University* (E/8323@ A &) in China in June 2012.

Mr. Hung is currently an executive director, the general manager,
the legal representative and the fund vice president of Shenzhen
Renco Private Equity Investment Fund Management Limited*
CRIIMAIAEREREESEEBERF)("Shenzhen
Renco”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company).
Mr. Hung has accumulated over 17 years’ working experience
in fund and investment management. Mr. Hung was the
assistant to the chairman and the senior manager of the
investment and financing division of Shenzhen Langju Industrial
Group Co., Ltd.* CRYITBAEBEEBBRAE), a company
principally engaged in real estate investment, from January
2005 to January 2010, where he primarily focused on sourcing
investment projects, formulating investment and financing plans
and performing due diligence and analysis on target projects.
Mr. Hung was the chief investment officer of Shenzhen Youying
Investment Co., Ltd.* CRIITTRHEREBRAT), a company
principally engaged in private equity investment, from January
2010 to September 2013, where he was mainly responsible
for formulation, performing analysis and implementation of
investment projects and strategic development. During the
period from September 2013 to December 2020, Mr. Hung
successively served as the vice president and executive general
manager of Shenzhen Xinlaiyuan Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.* (RYIFKFEREESEEFBRAE), a company
principally engaged in real estate funding business, the vice
president and deputy general manager of Shenzhen Shenxin
Wealth Management Co., Ltd.* CRYIFEM EEEERAT),
a company principally engaged in funding business and wealth
management, and the general manager of the merger and
acquisition investment division of SPF Capital* Gt RiZAKE
BEIEARAT), a company principally engaged in merger and
acquisition funding business, where he was mainly responsible
for fund formation, structuring and management.

132 Renco Holdings Group Limited Annual Report 2022

FLEEEE (TAFEEL)

LERE 435 EREERATESTRESFS
WTEZBgFR HWE_E__F/N\A+—H
LR -

e ‘T:ggﬂﬁ‘f——ﬁ RENEAREIE
frERBYELEN TN _E—_F/,HE
BHEEERBEARETIHESEE T2

LAEEERARIIBBLERERERES
BARRAE (TERYIFRH ’ZIKQ}EF'B?E’E\E’TBH
BRAE) ZHAITEF REE EEARKES
BBH - fLEEEESAREEETEBRR
BI7TFIFER-BE_STAF—HRE_T—
TE-R AR EREERYITEEXER
BRAR (XBUEEHEREZ AR EFEH
BUAREKRBESSREE T2EINY
@TQ%TIEE FIERBMETEURKERIER
ETERBERON - BT —SF-—RBEZ
T—ZFAA AKEREERITARKRE
ERRAB (EENEVEREREZAE) BE
REE ZTEEEHE - ATOMKBERKRSE
HERRBER - R _Z—=FNRBEZT_
SE+ T ABE LARERBIEERIIRKIR

REEZSEERARRR EZERFRMEES
EB2Z2RE) BIBHERAITREE RIIRE

MEEEBEERAR (FERBESEBEME
EEZAF) BB REREEMURIERER
REEEARAR (XENEHBEZEHZ
RNE) HBRENEKIE - TZEEESRI
EEREE.



Mr. Hung obtained the AMAC Fund Practitioner Qualification
Examination Certificate* (AMACE &R EAESEREAME
E1%58) in fund laws and regulations, professional ethics and
business practices (B&AREAR BEEBHEEFHS), and
fundamental knowledge in private equity investment funds
(FAEREREESERAM) issued by Asset Management
Association of China* (PEIGEFKREEEEWHE) in April
2016 and September 2016, respectively. Mr. Hung is currently
a committee member of the Shenzhen Federation of Returned
Overseas Chinese Youth Committee* (RYITHBHMBEELZE D).

Mr. Hung entered into a service agreement as an executive
Director with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 11 August 2022, which is renewable
automatically for successive terms of three years each on the
same terms and conditions, unless it may be terminated by
either party by giving to the other three months’ prior notice
in writing. Pursuant to the service agreement, Mr. Hung will
not receive additional remuneration for serving as an executive
Director, which is subject to re-election at the first general
meeting of the Shareholders after appointment and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
The Director’s emolument to which Mr. Hung is entitled is
determined and approved by the Board subject to the authority
granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation by
the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group. Mr. Hung was entitled to receive
an annual remuneration of approximately of RMB770,700 for
the year.
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BEFERE

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hung has not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he has not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
Other than the relationship arising from being an executive
Director and the chairman of the Executive Committee, Mr.
Hung does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Hung does not have any other interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are
discloseable under Part XV of the SFO and there are no matters
concerning Mr. Hung that that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheok Ho Fung (“Mr. Cheok”)

Mr. Cheok (alias: Peter), aged 71, is an executive Director who
tendered his resignation as the deputy chairman of the Board
and a member of the Executive Committee with effect from 6
April 2020. He is the founder of the Group. Mr. Cheok is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheok has over 30 years' experience in the PCBs industry
and is also involved in the business of real estate development in
China, and other high-tech products.

Mr. Cheok had held the positions of financial controller and
various management positions in different multinational
companies involved in computer related products, application
systems, motor vehicles and agricultural equipment, ship
repairing and oil-rig construction, business-form printing and
PCBs manufacturing. Mr. Cheok has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since 1980,
a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants since 1981 and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 1990.
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Mr. Cheok entered into a service agreement with the Company
on 30 May 2002 for an initial fixed term of three years and
shall continue thereafter for successive terms of one year each
commencing from the day immediately following the expiry
of the then current terms of the service agreement. Such
agreement may be terminated by either party by giving not
less than six months’ written notice to the other party. He is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.
His remuneration and performance bonus was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. Under the service agreement with
Mr. Cheok, he was entitled to receive an annual remuneration of
approximately HK$5,227,000 including the housing benefits in
kind for the Year.

Prior to 15 January 2016, Mr. Cheok was one of the then
substantial Shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules), a
director and a shareholder of Inni International Inc. which was
also one of the then substantial Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheok had not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
and he had not held any other directorships in any other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other
than the relationship arising from being an executive Director
(and being the deputy chairman of the Board and a member
of the Executive Committee before he tendered his resignation
with effect from 6 April 2020), Mr. Cheok does not have any
relationships with any other Directors and senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Cheok has no interest or deemed interest and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and there are no other matters
concerning Mr. Cheok that need to be brought to the attention
of the Shareholders nor any information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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INEDs
Mr. Ng Man Kung (“Mr. Ng”) (resigned on 21 March 2022)

Mr. Ng, aged 71, was an INED prior to his resignation on 21
March 2022. He joined the Group on 22 March 2016 as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
and resigned on 21 March 2022.

Mr. Ng graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
an attendance certificate in banking. Mr. Ng has been senior
management in banking industry of Hong Kong for 28 years. He
was appointed as the managing director and general manager
of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited in 1992 and the vice-
chairman and chief executive of Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2001. He retired from Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2012. Mr. Ng was a member of the council of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 1999 to 2003 and
was a member of Fujian Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference from 1993 to 2013.
Mr. Ng served as a business consultant of China Orient Asset
Management (International) Holdings Limited from January
2014 to April 2015 and a non-executive director of Roma
Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8072) from August 2017 to
December 2017. He has been appointed as the chairman of the
supervisory board of Well Link Bank in Macau since 31 March
2018.

Mr. Ng is currently the INED of each of Fujian Holdings Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 181) since June 2014, ELL Environmental
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1395) since September
2014 and Green Future Food Hydrocolloid Marine Science
Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1084) since September
2019. Mr. Ng was the INED of each of Guoan International
Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 143) from March 2016 to February
2021 and Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (HKSE Stock Code:
755) from May 2017 to January 2021.
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Mr. Ng had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 22
March 2016. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Mr. Ng was entitled to a director’s fee of HK$49,086 for the
period from 1 January 2022 to 21 March 2022. The director’s
fee payable to Mr. Ng was approved by the Board subject to the
authority granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to
fix the Directors’ remuneration at the annual general meeting
of the Company with reference to his duties and responsibilities
with the Company and the prevailing market situation and shall
be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ng had not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
had not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Other than
the relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee, Mr.
Ng does not have any relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling

Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

shareholders of the Company. Mr. Ng has no interest or deemed
interest and short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) and there are no
other matters concerning Mr. Ng that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

Mr. Lau Fai Lawrence (“Mr. Lau”)

Mr. Lau, aged 51, is an INED. He joined the Group on 22 March
2016. He is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. He resigned as an Authorised
Representative of the Company on 21 July 2022.

Mr. Lau is currently a practising certified public accountant in
Hong Kong. Mr. Lau graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor's degree in business administration in
1994 and obtained a master’s degree in corporate finance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007.

Mr. Lau joined BBMG Corporation on 6 August 2008 as joint
company secretary and qualified accountant. Since 26 October
2012, Mr. Lau has been serving as the company secretary of
BBMG Corporation.

Before joining BBMG Corporation, Mr. Lau served as the
group financial controller and qualified accountant of Founder
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 418) and Peking University
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 618),
both companies being listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau was an executive director of Future World
Financial Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) (HKSE Stock Code: 572) from January 2014 to
July 2022. Mr. Lau is an INED of each of Artini Holdings Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 789) and Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited
(in liquidation) (suspension of trading since 1 April 2021) (HKSE
Stock Code: 1192), shares of both companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, respectively. Mr. Lau was
a non-executive director of Alltronics Holdings Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 833) from March 2017 to December 2018 and an
INED of Winto Group (Holdings) Limited (HKSE Stock Code:
8238) from April 2019 to November 2019. Mr. Lau has been
appointed as the INED of Sinopharm Tech Holdings Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 8156) since January 2020, whose shares
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and appointed
as the INED of China Energine International (Holdings) Limited
(HKSE Stock Code: 1185) since March 2020, whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau has
been appointed as the company secretary of HM International
Holdings Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 8416), whose shares are
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, with effect from
14 August 2020. From November 2018 to November 2020,
Mr. Lau had been the INED of Tenwow International Holdings
Limited whose shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (HKSE Stock Code: 1219) before the delisting in
November 2020.
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Mr. Lau had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 22
March 2016. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Mr. Lau was entitled to a director's fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Lau was approved by the
Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders to
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau had not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he
had not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Authorised
Representative, Mr. Lau does not have any relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau has no
interest or deemed interest and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) and there are no other matters concerning Mr. Lau that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

Mr. Mak Kwok Kei (“Mr. Mak”)

Mr. Mak (alias: Eric), aged 37, is an INED. He joined the
Group on 17 July 2018. He is currently the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has been re-
designated (i) from the chairman of the Nomination Committee
to a member of the Nomination Committee; and (ii) from a
member of the Remuneration Committee to the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee on 21 July 2022.

Mr. Mak has over ten years' experience in securities sales and
trading and capital markets advisory at various international
investment banks, specialising in initial public offerings and
capital fund raising for companies in Hong Kong and China.
He worked as a trainee in Credit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank (Hong Kong Branch), a financial services
company, where he was mainly engaged in transacting various
high grade corporate and government bonds with central
banks in Asia, from September 2009 to November 2010. He
also worked at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited, a
financial services company, as associate where he was mainly
engaged in both primary and secondary equity fund raising
activities for listed companies and high-net-worth individuals
in Asia, from November 2010 to August 2015. From October
2015 to June 2018, he has served as a managing director and
head of equity capital markets in Zhongtai International Capital
Limited, a corporate finance advisory company. He was primarily
responsible for providing capital markets advisory services to
clients and operating and managing the equity capital markets
franchise. During January 2019 to July 2021, he had served
as member of executive committee and head of investment
banking division of Soochow Securities International Capital
Limited (formerly known as China Investment Securities (Hong
Kong) Financial Holdings Limited) who was in charge of the
investment banking division, including IPO sponsoring, debt and
equity fund raising and financial advisory.

Mr. Mak has been a limited partner in WI Harper Fund VIl
LP, which is mainly engaged in venture capital investments in
healthcare and technology sectors, since May 2016.

Mr. Mak is currently an INED of Lapco Holdings Limited (HKSE
Stock Code: 8472), whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Mak obtained a bachelor degree with first class honour in
applied business management from Imperial College London,
United Kingdom in August 2008 and subsequently obtained
a master degree in philosophy from University of Cambridge,
United Kingdom in October 2009.

Mr. Mak had signed a letter of appointment with the Company
as an INED for an initial term of three years effective from 17
July 2018. The term is renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the INED or the Company expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter. He is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.

Mr. Mak was entitled to a director’s fee of HK$220,000 for the
Year. The director’s fee payable to Mr. Mak was approved by
the Board subject to the authority granted by the Shareholders
to authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration at the
annual general meeting of the Company with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation and shall be reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mak had not held any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group and
he had not held any directorship in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an INED, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Mak does
not have any relationships with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Mak has no interest or deemed interest and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), and there are no other matters relating
to Mr. Mak that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders, nor any information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

Mr. Xu Xinwei (“Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 38, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, all with effect from 21 July 2022.

Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (E/822#A2)in China
in July 2007, a master degree in Mechanical Engineering from
University of Michigan in the U.S.A. in May 2010 and a degree
of Master of Finance from The University of Hong Kong in
November 2011.

Mr. Xu has over ten years’ working experience in finance
and investment management. For about eight years, Mr. Xu
worked as an analyst and an investment manager with different
companies focusing on strategy research, management and
investment of fund and related duties. Mr. Xu was a vice-
president of the direct investment division of CCB International
Asset Management Limited from February 2016 to August
2019, where he was mainly in charge of management and
execution of secondary market trading and direct investment
projects including investments in bonds, convertible bonds and
private placements of listed companies and pre-IPO investments.
From September 2019 to September 2021, Mr. Xu was the
chief investment officer and a responsible officer of Swenson
Asset Management Limited, a company principally engaged in
asset management, where he accumulated experience in fund
management. Mr. Xu has been an investment portfolio manager
of Valuable Asset Management Limited, a company principally
engaged in asset management, since October 2021, focusing on
investment advisory and deals initiation and structuring.

Mr. Xu is licensed under the SFO as a representative to carry out

Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO.
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Mr. Xu entered into a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 21 July 2022. The term is
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years
each commencing from the next day after the expiry of the
then current term of appointment, unless terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
to the other expiring at the end of the initial term or at any
time thereafter. Pursuant to the letter of appointment, Mr.
Xu was entitled to a Director’'s emolument of HK$98,172 for
the year, which is subject to re-election at the first general
meeting of the Shareholders after appointment and retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
The Director's emolument to which Mr. Xu is entitled is
determined and approved by the Board subject to the authority
granted by the Shareholders to authorise the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration, based on the recommendation by
the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the market
rate for the position, the remuneration policy of the Company,
such Director’s qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities with the Group. Mr. Xu has confirmed that he
meets the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xu has not held any other position
with the Company or other members of the Group and he has
not held any other directorships in any other public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Other than the
relationship arising from being an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Xu does not have any relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Xu does not have any other interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which are discloseable under Part XV of the SFO and there are
no matters concerning Mr. Xu that that need to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders nor any information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above under the heading “Biographical Details
of Directors”, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND EQUITY-
SETTLED SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
BENEFITS, AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors and senior management of the
Group are recommended by the Remuneration Committee
and approved by the Board, having regard to their duties
and responsibilities with the Company, the prevailing market
conditions, the benchmark of the industry and the performance
of the Group.

Details of the remuneration and equity-settled share-based
compensation benefits of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The employees of the Group in the PRC participate in various
social security plans enacted in the PRC, which cover pension,
medical and other welfare benefits. The Group is required
to make contributions to the plans calculated based on a
percentage of the monthly compensation of employees, subject
to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the respective labour and
social welfare authorities in accordance with the applicable
PRC rules and regulations. The local government is responsible
for the planning, management and supervision of the scheme,
including collecting and investing the contributions, and paying
out the pension to the retired employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund (the “"MPF") Schemes
Ordinance in Hong Kong, for all its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The other employees are covered by other defined-contribution
pension plans sponsored by local government.
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There was no forfeited contribution under the scheme available
for deduction of future contribution to be made by the Group
during the Year. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution was
utilised during the Year, and as at 31 December 2022, there was
no forfeited contribution available to reduce the Group’s existing
level of contributions to the scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of retirement benefits associated with the schemes except the
contribution described above.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which any member of the Group was a
party subsisting during the Year or as at 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business
apart from the Group’s business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Bye-law 164 of the Bye-laws and subject to the
provisions permitted by the Companies Ordinance, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his
office. The permitted indemnity provision made by the Company
for the benefit of the Directors and other officers of the
Company is in force.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EEN kN KRBERRGN Z#E=E
UNDERLYING SHARES
1. Directors’ interests in Shares 1. EERRMOZER
As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions R_E__F+_B=+—H XxRTE
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the ERTBBER A ABNEBEEE (E
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company Z B (BHFRHERM ) EXVEL BYIZMK
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part RN RESETEEBREBE(ESX
XV of the SFO) required to be notified to the Company FAERA ) EXVEE T RSO ERME AR
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of BRI RPN T Rk A (BiERERE
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions (BERIPERAINBRMIEXHEELR
which they have taken, or are deemed to have taken, RAEBEENERRER)  AREGESF K
under such provisions of the SFO), or recorded in the BRE1RAI) E3521KBE LN A QB AR
register required to be kept by the Company under section ENESEMANER XA HIREIRE
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and STRIZB R & A B B Bt 22 P BY 4 18 Aok
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were set BT
out below:
The Company b
Percentage to
Nature of Number of total issued
Name of Director Capacity interest held ordinary shares share capital
HE®T
) 1% BmtEE FRis&iEREE A B AL
Mr. Li Yongjun Interests of Long position 624,960,000 23.60%
corporation
controlled
FKERE REEMEEZ HE 624,960,000 23.60%
T
Mr. Liu Tingan, a former executive Director and chairman AT EFIELZREN _E -
of the management committee of the Company, held +Z=HB =+—H7%¥36,156,0004F & I 15 °
36,156,000 shares in long position as beneficial owner, AEREB AN HBEETRALN1.64% -

representing approximately 1.64% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions they have
taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions
of the SFO), or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Interests in Share Options and Share
Award Scheme of the Company

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Company’s Directors
held share options of the Company because the Company’s
share option scheme had been expired on 30 May 2012.

—ECEEFR MBEZEREERRAE
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Long positions in Shares:

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
every person, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRKIHEMALRRD KRB
fRin Zz Ea

RiRHBZEE

BRBAEARBDREESFT RPEFRAFE3361FA
FEZEMAEH R_E-__F+2A4
Zt+t—RBB2RFAERRARMRERRKRN
5% U EZ AT (RRBEFHITHBHG
SN FRBER Z m kAW ¢

Number of Percentage to

Nature of ordinary total issued

Name of shareholders Notes Capacity interest shares held share capital

Hwe®T

IRERATE Wizt 13 S FrfsEE iR & E RAEBSL

Eternal Glory Holdings Limited (1) Beneficial owner Long position 624,960,000 23.60%

("Eternal Glory")

KMEEERRAS (GRIEER)) (1) BmBEAA Fa 624,960,000 23.60%

Mr. Li Yongjun (“Mr. Li") (1) Interests of corporation  Long position 624,960,000 23.60%
controlled

FxBERE (MFEXE) (1) MRREGREEZ#EED A 624,960,000 23.60%

Ms. Liu Xinjun (“Ms. Liu") (1) Interest of spouse Long position 624,960,000 23.60%

ZFmERLT (ML) (1) EBz#E=m A 624,960,000 23.60%

Youfu Investment Co., Ltd. (“Youfu”) (2)  Beneficial owner Long position 340,192,957 12.85%

BRRERARAR (B4R 2) BmBEBA Fa 340,192,957 12.85%

Mr. Sun Mingwen (2)  Interests of corporation  Long position 340,192,957 12.85%
controlled

HEAX L (2) REEGHEEZER 53] 340,192,957 12.85%

Zhisheng Enterprise Investment Co., Ltd. (3)  Beneficial owner Long position 170,097,333 6.42%

("Zhisheng”)

BHEELEARAD (MEB) (3) BmEAA Fa 170,097,333 6.42%

Mr. Zhu Yanbin (3) Interests of corporation Long position 170,097,333 6.42%
controlled

KEMAEE (3) MREGREEZ#ED A 170,097,333 6.42%
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Notes:

1. Mr. Li is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of
Eternal Glory and is deemed to be interested in the 624,960,000
Shares, representing approximately 23.60% of the total issued
Shares, held by Eternal Glory under the SFO. Ms. Liu, being Mr.
Li's spouse, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
Shares held by Mr. Li by virtue of the SFO.

2. Mr. Sun Mingwen is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of Youfu and is deemed to be interested in the
340,192,957 Shares, representing approximately 12.85% of the
total issued Shares, held by Youfu under the SFO.

3. Mr. Zhu Yanbin is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of Zhisheng and is deemed to be interested in the
170,097,333 Shares, representing approximately 6.42% of the
total issued Shares, held by Zhisheng under the SFO.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there are no significant events
subsequent to 31 December 2022 which would materially affect
the Group’s operating and financial performance as of the date
of this report.
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Report of the Directors

BEFERE

AUDITOR

BDO Limited had tendered its resignation letter as the
Company’s external auditor (the “Auditor”) which had been
accepted by the Board on 10 November 2021. ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as Auditor by the Board to fill
the casual vacancy created by BDO, the resigned Auditor, and
to hold office commencing from 10 November 2021 until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company
at a fee to be agreed with the Directors as authorised by the
Shareholders thereat.

A resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, the retiring Auditor, and being eligible, who will
offer themselves for re-appointment, would be proposed for
the consideration by the Shareholders, and if thought fit, for
approval at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited and
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yongjun
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

b ;L

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
RENCO HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Renco
Holdings Group Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
162 to 305, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B E

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

152

Loan to an associate, trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and other receivables
We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability
of a loan to an associate, certain trade receivables,
loan receivables, note receivables and certain other
receivables of HK$55,907,000, HK$Nil, HK$785,703,000,
HK$69,049,000 and HK$57,295,000 as at 31
December 2022 respectively and HK$89,449,000,
HK$5,464,000, HK$1,070,223,000, HK$138,099,000 and
HK$110,458,000 respectively as at 31 December 2021
and whether the loss allowance provisions in respect to
a loan to an associate, certain trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and certain other receivables
of HK$33,542,000, HK$5,464,000, HK$233,461,000,
HK$69,050,000 and HK$51,988,000 respectively for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and HK$22,362,000,
HK$22,253,000, HK$186,648,000, HK$32,230,000
and HK$3,648,000 respectively for the year ended 31
December 2021 were appropriately recorded.

In the absence of the information in relation to the
financial status of these issuer, customers and borrowers
on assessing its ability for settling on these outstanding
amounts to the Group, the management considered that
there is uncertainty on recovering the abovementioned
balances. The management has initiated actions
including but not limited to legal action against certain
abovementioned balances, hence no result from actions
is available up to the date of this report for justifying the
extent of the recoverability of the aforesaid balances.
There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we
could adopt to determine whether any allowance for
non-recovery of the amount should be made in respect
to a loan to an associate, certain trade receivables, loan
receivables, note receivables and certain other receivables
in the consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Other payables and accruals

Included in other payables and accruals in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were other payables and accruals of
approximately HK$19,042,000 and HK$67,014,000
respectively which were due to certain parties. Due to the
limited accounting books and records available to us, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to the nature and obligation of other
payables and accruals of approximately HK$19,042,000
and HK$67,014,000 respectively as at 31 December 2022
and 2021. There are no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could adopt to determine the nature and whether
any written-back should be made in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Included in other gains and losses on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022 of
approximately HK$38,268,000, representing the
amounts of written back on other payables and accruals
(the "Written Back”). We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the Written Back of approximately
HK$14,363,000 were properly accounted for in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2022 and were not satisfied with the accounting treatment
that the Group adopted in relation to the remaining of
approximately HK$23,905,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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3. Deferred tax assets

Including in income tax expenses on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of HK$57,920,000, representing a deferred tax
expense. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
amounts of deferred tax expense of approximately
HK$57,920,000 were properly accounted for in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2021. However, we are satisfied that the balance of
deferred tax assets is fairly stated as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

4. Tax payable

Included in tax payable in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 were of approximately HK$268,471,000 and
HK$270,020,000 respectively which represent tax payables
of certain subsidiaries. In the absence of final assessment
from relevant tax authority, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the obligation of tax payables of approximately
HK$268,471,000 and HK$270,020,000 respectively as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 and whether the income
tax expense and credit of HK$Nil and HKS$Nil for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively were
appropriately recorded.

Any adjustments to the figures described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group financial performance and
cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 and the related disclosure thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$466,136,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at 31 December
2022 the Group had net current liabilities of HK$348,021,000.
In addition, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$901,409,000 which would be due for
repayment within the next twelve months and an amount due
to a director of approximately HK$111,137,000 respectively
which are repayable on demand and bank balances and deposits
of approximately HK$46,943,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.

Loans to associates
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of loans to associates for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of loans to associates of HK$197,694,000
as at 31 December 2022 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Evaluating management’s impairment assessment on the
default risk of these balances by challenging management’s
views of probability of default events of amounts

outstanding;

—  Challenging management’s view of risk of default and loss
given default of these balances;

- Performing background search of the underlying
borrowers;
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-  Evaluating other evidences including financial information,
day past due information and credit rating of the
underlying borrowers available;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of methodology and
assumptions adopted in estimating the fair value of the
collaterals with the assistance of our valuation specialists;

—  Questioning management’s knowledge of future conditions
that may impact expected receipts from the underlying
borrowers; and

—  Assessing the disclosures of the quantitative and qualitative
considerations in relation to credit risks on these balances,
by comparing these disclosures to our understanding of
the matter.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans to
associates is supported by the available evidence.

Property, plant and equipment
Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of property, plant and equipment
of HK$280,039,000 as at 31 December 2022 is material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

-  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculation;
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Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins and discount
rates);

Checking input data to supporting evidence;

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by the Company;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant
and equipment is supported by the available evidence.

Trade receivables
Refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of HK$86,552,000 as
at 31 December 2022 is material to the consolidated financial

statements.

In addition, the Group's impairment test involves

application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers;
- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information in the
Company'’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about loan to an associate,
trade receivables, loan receivables, note receivables and other
receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
other payables and accruals, deferred tax assets and tax payable.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the
other information is materially misstated with respect to these
matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Ho Yuen

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P04309
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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